


In millinne avrant nar chara Aata 2022 2021 2020

Consolidated Operating Profit 9,123 8,644
Segment Operating Profit 7,379 7,152
Net Earnings From Continuing Operations 6,315 6,888
Net Earnings 6,315 6,833
Diluted Earnings Per Common Share
Continuing Operations 22.76 2450
Net Earnings 22.76 2430
Cash Dividends Per Common Share 10.60 9.80
Average Diluted Common Shares Outstanding 277 281
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 3604 $ 3,160
Total Assets 50,873 50,710
Total Debt, net 11,676 12,169
Total Equity 10,959 6,038
Common Shares Outstanding at Year-End 271 279

NOTE: For additional information regarding the amounts presented above, see the Form 10-K portion of this Annual
Report. A reconciliation of Segment Operating Profit to Consolidated Operating Profit is included on the page preceding
the back cover of this Annual Report.
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such as the F-35 aircraft. We rely on other companies to provide materials, components and products, including advanced
microelectronics such as semiconductors, and to perform a portion of the services that are provided to our customers under the
terms of most of our contracts. During 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic, supply chain challenges, and increased demand caused
global semiconductor chip shortages, extended lead times and pricing escalations and these are expected to continue in 2023.
These supplier disruptions have resulted in delays and increased costs and have adversely affected our program performance
and operating results. For more information on the risks related to our suppliers and raw materials, see Item 1A - Risk Factors.

No material portion of our business is considered to be seasonal. Various factors, however, can affect the distribution of
our sales between accounting periods, including the timing of government awards, the availability of government funding,
product deliveries and customer acceptance.

Human Capital Resources

Due to the specialized nature of our business, our performance depends on identifying, attracting, developing, motivating
and retaining a highly skilled workforce in multiple areas, including engineering, science, manufacturing, information
technology, cybersecurity, business development and strategy and management. Our human capital management strategy,
which we refer to as our people strategy, is tightly aligned with our business needs and technology strategy. During 2022, our
human capital efforts were focused on continuing to accelerate the transformation of our technology for workforce management
through investments in upgraded systems and processes, and continuing to increase our agility to meet the quickly changing
needs of the business, all while maintaining a respectful, challenging, supportive and inclusive working environment. We use a
variety of human capital measures in managing our business, including: workforce demographics; hiring metrics; talent
management metrics, including retention rates of top talent; and diversity metrics with respect to representation, attrition,
hiring, promotions and leadership.

Workforce Demographics

As of December 31, 2022, we had a highly skilled workforce made up of approximately 116,000 employees, including
approximately 60,000 engineers, scientists and information technology professionals. As of December 31, 2022, approximately
93% of our workforce was located in the U.S. and approximately 19% of our employees were covered by collective bargaining
agreements with various unions. A number of our existing collective bargaining agreements expire in any given year.
Historically, we have been successful in negotiating renewals to expiring agreements without any material disruption of
operating activities, and management considers employee and union relations to be good.

Diversity and Inclusion

Diversity and inclusion is a business imperative for us, as we believe that it is key to our future success. We have focused
our diversity and inclusion initiatives on employee recruitment, including investments in minority-serving institutions and
outreach, employee training and development, such as efforts focused on expanding the diverse talent pipeline, and employee
engagement, including through participation in our employee Business Resource Groups. Our Business Resource Groups are
voluntary, employee-led groups that are open to all employees while focusing on workplace issues specific to racial/ethnic,
gender, sexual orientation/gender identity, disability or veteran status. The Business Resource Groups foster a diverse and
inclusive workplace aligned with our organizational mission, values, goals and business practices and drive awareness and
change within our organization. Through these and other focused efforts, we have improved the diversity of our overall U.S.
workforce and within leadership positions, specifically in the representation of women, people of color and people with
disabilities. Additionally, our representation of veterans remains outstanding, at almost four times the current annual national
percentage of veterans in the civilian workforce.

Employee Profile (as of December 31, 2022):

Women® People of Color®™ Veterans® People with Disabilities®
Overall 23% 30% 21% 11%
Executives” 25% 16% 21% 11%

@ Based on employees who self-identify. Includes only U.S. employees and expatriates except for women, which also includes local

country nationals. Excludes casual workers, interns/co-ops and employees of certain subsidiaries and joint ventures.

& Executive is defined as director-level (one level below vice president) or higher.






















































The following is a summary of our square feet of floor space owned, leased, or utilized by business segment at December
31, 2022 (in millions):

Government-
Owned Leased Owned Total
Acronautics 55 3.0 14.7 232
Missiles and Fire Control 7.8 2.6 2.2 12.6
Rotary and Mission Systems 11.2 4.7 0.2 16.1
Space 93 2.9 0.9 13.1
Corporate activities 24 0.9 — 33
Total 36.2 14.1 18.0 68.3

We believe our facilities are in good condition and adequate for their current use. We may improve, replace or reduce
facilities as considered appropriate to meet the needs of our operations.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

We are a party to litigation and other proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business, including matters arising
under provisions relating to the protection of the environment, and are subject to contingencies related to certain businesses we
previously owned. These types of matters could result in fines, penalties, cost reimbursements or contributions, compensatory
or treble damages or non-monetary sanctions or relief. We believe the probability is remote that the outcome of each of these
matters will have a material adverse effect on the corporation as a whole, notwithstanding that the unfavorable resolution of any
matter may have a material effect on our net earnings and cash flows in any particular interim reporting period. We cannot
predict the outcome of legal or other proceedings with certainty.

We are subject to federal, state, local and foreign requirements for the protection of the environment, including those for
discharge of hazardous materials and remediation of contaminated sites. Due in part to the complexity and pervasiveness of
these requirements, we are a party to or have property subject to various lawsuits, proceedings and remediation obligations. The
extent of our financial exposure cannot in all cases be reasonably estimated at this time.

For information regarding the matters discussed above, including current estimates of the amounts that we believe are
required for remediation or clean-up to the extent estimable, see “Critical Accounting Policies - Environmental Matters” in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™ and “Note 14 — Legal Proceedings,
Commitments and Contingencies” included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
ITEM 4(a). Information about our Executive Officers

Our executive officers as of January 26, 2023 are listed below, with their ages on that date, positions and offices currently
held, and principal occupation and business experience during at least the last five years. There are no family relationships
among any of our executive officers and directors. All executive officers serve at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

Timothy S. Cahill (age 57), Executive Vice President — Missiles and Fire Control

Mr. Cahill has served as Executive Vice President for the Missiles and Fire Control (MFC) business segment, since
November 2022. Mr. Cahill previously served as Senior Vice President of Global Business Development & Strategy (GBD&S)
from March 2021 to October 2022. Prior to that, Mr. Cahill served as Senior Vice President Lockheed Martin International
from October 2019 to March 2021; and as Vice President, Integrated Air and Missile Defense IAMD) Systems for MFC from
January 2016 to October 2019.

Stephanie C. Hill (age S8), Executive Vice President — Rotary and Mission Systems

Ms. Hill has served as Executive Vice President of Rotary and Mission Systems (RMS) since June 2020. She previously
served as Senior Vice President, Enterprise Business Transformation from June 2019 to June 2020. Prior to that, she was
Deputy Executive Vice President of RMS from October 2018 to June 2019; and Senior Vice President for Corporate Strategy
and Business Development from September 2017 to October 2018.
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Purchases of Equity Securities

There were no sales of unregistered equity securities during the quarter ended December 31, 2022.

The following table provides information about our repurchases of our common stock that is registered pursuant to Section

12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the quarter ended December 31, 2022.

Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Total Shares Purchased Value of Shares That
Number of  Average  as Part of Publicly May Yet be Purchased
Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Under the Plans or
Period @ Purchased Per Share or Programs Programs
(in millions)
September 26, 2022 — October 30, 2022 © 7225959 $  408.50 7224954 $ 10,023
October 31, 2022 — November 27, 2022 961 $ 47420 — % 10,023
November 28, 2022 — December 31, 2022 4249 $ 48293 — 3 10,023
Total @@ 7231,169 $  410.10 7,224,954

(a)

O

©

@

We close our books and records on the last Sunday of each month to align our financial closing with our business processes, except for
the month of December, as our fiscal year ends on December 31. As a result, our fiscal months often differ from the calendar months.
For example, November 28, 2022 was the first day of our December 2022 fiscal month.

In 2010, our Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program pursuant to which we are authorized to repurchase our common
stock in privately negotiated transactions or in the open market at prices per share not exceeding the then-current market prices. From
time to time, our Board of Directors authorizes increases to our share repurchase program. On October 17, 2022, the Board of Directors
authorized an increase to the program by $14.0 billion. The total remaining authorization for future common share repurchases under our
share repurchase program was $10.0 billion as of December 31, 2022. Under the program, management has discretion to determine the
dollar amount of shares to be repurchased and the timing of any repurchases in compliance with applicable law and regulation. This
includes purchases pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 plans, including accelerated share repurchases. The program does not have an expiration
date.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, we entered into an accelerated share repurchase (ASR) agreement to repurchase $4.0 billion of our
common stock. Under the terms of the ASR agreement, we paid $4.0 billion and received an initial delivery of 6,995,147 shares of our
common stock. We expect to receive additional shares upon final settlement, which is expected in March or April 2023. The total
number of shares of common stock to be received under the ASR agreement will be based on an average volume-weighted average price
(VWAP) of our common stock during the term of the ASR agreement, less a discount and subject to adjustments pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the ASR agreement. Average Price Paid Per Share in the table above does not include ASR shares.

During the fourth quarter of 2022, the total number of shares purchased included 6,215 shares that were transferred to us by employees
in satisfaction of tax withholding obligations associated with the vesting of restricted stock units. These purchases were made pursuant to
a separate authorization by our Board of Directors and are not included within the share repurchase program described above.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

(In millions, except per share data) 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
Operating results
Net sales $ 65984 $§ 67044 $§ 65398 $ 59812 $§ 53,762
Operating profit ®® 8,348 9,123 8,644 8,545 7334
Net earnings from continuing operations @®©©HE® 5,732 6,315 6,888 6,230 5,046
Net loss from discontinued operations — — (55) — —
Net eamnings @®©E@DE® 5,732 6,315 6,833 6,230 5,046
Earnings from continuing operations per common share

Basic @®©@EOE® 21.74 22.85 24.60 22.09 17.74

Diluted @®©@d@DE® 21.66 22.76 24 .50 21.95 17.59
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations per common
share

Basic — — (0.20) — —

Diluted — — (0.20) — —
Earnings per common share

Basic @®©@EOE® 21.74 22.85 24 .40 22.09 17.74

Diluted @®©@d@DE® 21.66 22.76 24 .30 21.95 17.59
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 1140 $ 10,60 $ 980 §$ 9.00 $ 8.20
Balance sheet
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 2547 $§ 3604 § 3160 $ 1514 $ 772
Total current assets 20,991 19,815 19,378 17,095 16,103
Goodwill 10,780 10,813 10,806 10,604 10,769
Total assets ® 52,880 50,873 50,710 47,528 44,876
Total current liabilities 15,887 13,997 13,933 13,972 14,398
Total debt, net 15,547 11,676 12,169 12,654 14,104
Total liabilities ¥ 43,614 39,914 44,672 44,357 43,427
Total equity 9,266 10,959 6,038 3,171 1,449
Common shares in stockholders’ equity at year-end 254 271 279 280 281
Cash flow information
Net cash provided by operating activities ® $ 7802 $ 9221 $ 8183 $ 7311 $ 3,138
Net cash used for investing activities (1,789) (1,161) (2,010 (1,241) (1,075)
Net cash used for financing activities (7,070) (7,616) 4,527) (5,328) 4,152)
Backlog $ 149,998 $ 135355 $ 147,131 $ 143981 $ 130,468

(a)

®)

©

@

Our operating profit and net earnings from continuing operations and earnings per share from continuing operations in 2022 were
affected by $100 million ($79 million, or $0.31 per share, after-tax) of certain severance and other charges that relate to actions at our
RMS business segment, which include severance costs for reduction of positions and asset impairment charges; severance and
restructuring charges of $36 million ($28 million, or $0.10 per share, after-tax) in 2021; severance charges of $27 million ($21 million,
or $0.08 per share, after-tax) in 2020; and severance and restructuring charges of $96 million ($76 million, or $0.26 per share, after-tax)
in 2018. See “Note 16 — Severance and Other Charges” included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more
information.

The impact of our postretirement benefit plans can cause our operating profit, net earnings, cash flows and certain amounts recorded on
our consolidated balance sheets to fluctuate. Accordingly, our net earnings were affected by a FAS/CAS pension adjustment of
$738 million in 2022, $668 million in 2021, $2.1 billion in 2020, $1.5 billion in 2019, and $1.0 billion in 2018. We made no pension
contributions in both 2022 and 2021, $1.0 billion in both 2020 and 2019, and $5.0 billion in 2018. These contributions caused
fluctuations in our operating cash flows and cash balance between each of those years. See “Critical Accounting Policies - Postretirement
Benefit Plans” in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for more information.

Net earnings include a noncash, non-operating pension settlement charge of $1.5 billion ($1.2 billion, or $4.33 per share, after-tax) in
2022, and $1.7 billion ($1.3 billion, or $4.72 per share, after-tax) in 2021, related to the purchase of group annuity contracts to transfer
$4.3 billion and $4.9 billion of gross pension obligations and related plan assets to an insurance company.

Net earnings in 2022 and 2021 include net losses of $114 million ($86 million, or 0.33 per share, after-tax) and net gains of $265 million
($199 million, or $0.72 per share, after-tax) due to changes in the fair value of certain mark-to-market investments.
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of our backlog over the next 12 months and approximately 61% over the next 24 months as revenue, with the remainder
recognized thereafter.

Our backlog includes both funded (firm orders for our products and services for which funding has been both authorized
and appropriated by the customer) and unfunded (firm orders for which funding has not been appropriated) amounts. We do not
include unexercised options or potential orders under indefinite-delivery, indefinite-quantity (IDIQ) agreements in our backlog.
If any of our contracts with firm orders were to be terminated, our backlog would be reduced by the expected value of the
unfilled orders of such contracts. Funded backlog was $95.5 billion at December 31, 2022, as compared to $88.5 billion at
December 31, 2021. For backlog related to each of our business segments, see below.

Consolidated Results of Operations

Our operating cycle is primarily long term and involves many types of contracts for the design, development and
manufacture of products and related activities with varying delivery schedules. Consequently, the results of operations of a
particular year, or year-to-year comparisons of sales and profits, may not be indicative of future operating results. The
following discussions of comparative results among years should be reviewed in this context. All per share amounts cited in
these discussions are presented on a “per diluted share™ basis, unless otherwise noted. Our consolidated results of operations
were as follows (in millions, except per share data):

2022 2021 2020
Net sales $ 65984 $§ 67044 § 65398
Cost of sales (57,697) (57,983) (56,744)
Gross profit 8,287 9,061 8,654
Other income (expense), net 61 62 (10)
Operating profit 8,348 9,123 8,644
Interest expense (623) (569) (591
Non-service FAS pension (expense) income 971) (1,292) 219
Other non-operating (expense) income, net (74) 288 (37
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes 6,680 7,550 8,235
Income tax expense (948) (1,235) (1,347)
Net earnings from continuing operations 5,732 6,315 6,388
Net loss from discontinued operations — — (55)
Net carnings $ 5732 $ 6315 $ 6,833
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share
Continuing operations $ 2166 $ 2276 $§ 2450
Discontinued operations — — (0.20)
Total diluted earnings per common share $ 2166 $ 2276 $§ 2430

Certain amounts reported in other income (expense), net, including our share of earnings or losses from equity method
investees, are included in the operating profit of our business segments. Accordingly, such amounts are included in the
discussion of our business segment results of operations.
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Net Sales

We generate sales from the delivery of products and services to our customers. Our consolidated net sales were as follows
(in millions):

2022 2021 2020

Products $ 55,466 $ 56,435 $ 54928
% of total net sales 84.1 % 842 % 84.0 %

Services 10,518 10,609 10,470
% of total net sales 159 % 158 % 16.0 %

Total net sales $ 65,984 $ 67,044 $ 65,398

Substantially all of our contracts are accounted for using the percentage-of-completion cost-to-cost method. Under the
percentage-of-completion cost-to-cost method, we record net sales on contracts over time based upon our progress towards
completion on a particular contract, as well as our estimate of the profit to be earned at completion. The following discussion of
material changes in our consolidated net sales should be read in tandem with the subsequent discussion of changes in our
consolidated cost of sales and our business segment results of operations because changes in our sales are typically
accompanied by a corresponding change in our cost of sales due to the nature of the percentage-of-completion cost-to-cost
method. Overall, our sales were negatively affected in 2022 because of supply chain impacts.

Product Sales

Product sales decreased $1.0 billion, or 2%, in 2022 as compared to 2021. The decrease is primarily attributable to lower
product sales of approximately $670 million at RMS mostly due to lower production volume on Black Hawk and lower net
sales for training and logistics solutions (TLS) programs due to the delivery of an international pilot training system in the first
quarter of 2021; about $315 million at Space primarily due to the renationalization of AWE on June 30, 2021, partially offset
by higher development volume (Next Generation Interceptor (NGI)); and approximately $220 million at MFC primarily due to
lower volume on Terminal High Altitude Area Defense (THAAD) and air dominance weapon systems. These decreases were
partially offset by higher product sales of about $240 million at Aeronautics mostly due to higher volume on classified contracts
that were partially offset by lower volume on F-35 contracts.

Service Sales

Service sales decreased $91 million, or 1%, in 2022 as compared to 2021. The decrease in service sales was primarily due
to lower sales of approximately $155 million at MFC primarily due to lower volume on the Special Operations Forces Global
Logistics Support Services (SOF GLSS) program.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales, for both products and services, consist of materials, labor, subcontracting costs and an allocation of indirect
costs (overhead and general and administrative), as well as the costs to fulfill our industrial cooperation agreements, sometimes
referred to as offset agreements, required under certain contracts with international customers. For each of our contracts, we
monitor the nature and amount of costs at the contract level, which form the basis for estimating our total costs to complete the
contract. Our consolidated cost of sales were as follows (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Cost of sales — products $ (49,577) $ (50,273) $ (48,996)

% of product sales 894 % 89.1 % 892 %
Cost of sales — services (9,280) (9,463) (9,371)

% of service sales 882 % 892 % 895 %
Severance and other charges (100) (36) 27
Other unallocated, net 1,260 1,789 1,650

Total cost of sales $ (57,697) $(57,983) $ (56,744)

The following discussion of material changes in our consolidated cost of sales for products and services should be read in
tandem with the preceding discussion of changes in our consolidated net sales and our business segment results of operations.
Except for potential impacts to our programs resulting from COVID-19, supply chain disruptions and inflation, we have not
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Summary operating results for each of our business segments were as follows (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Net sales
Aeronautics $ 26987 $ 26748 $ 26,266
Missiles and Fire Control 11,317 11,693 11,257
Rotary and Mission Systems 16,148 16,789 15,995
Space 11,532 11,814 11,880
Total net sales $ 65984 $ 67044 $ 65398
Operating profit
Aeronautics $ 2866 $ 2799 $ 2843
Missiles and Fire Control 1,635 1,648 1,545
Rotary and Mission Systems 1,673 1,798 1,615
Space 1,045 1,134 1,149
Total business segment operating profit 7,219 7,379 7,152
Unallocated items
FAS/CAS pension operating adjustment 1,709 1,960 1,876
Severance and other charges ® (100) (36) 27
Other, net ® (480) (180) (357)
Total unallocated, net 1,129 1,744 1,492
Total consolidated operating profit $ 8348 $§ 9123 § 8,644

@ See “Consolidated Results of Operations — Severance and Other Charges” discussion above for information on charges related to certain

severance and other actions across our organization.

Other, net in 2020 includes a noncash impairment charge of $128 million recognized on our investment in the international equity
method investee, Advanced Military Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul Center (AMMROC). (See “Note 1 — Organization and
Significant Accounting Policies” included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information).

®)

Our business segments’ results of operations include pension expense only as calculated under U.S. Government Cost
Accounting Standards (CAS), which we refer to as CAS pension cost. We recover CAS pension and other postretirement
benefit plan cost through the pricing of our products and services on U.S. Government contracts and, therefore, recognize CAS
pension cost in each of our business segment’s net sales and cost of sales. Our consolidated financial statements must present
pension and other postretirement benefit plan (expense) income calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
(FAS) requirements under U.S. GAAP. The operating portion of the total FAS/CAS pension adjustment represents the
difference between the service cost component of FAS pension (expense) income and total CAS pension cost. The non-service
FAS pension (expense) income components are included in non-service FAS pension (expense) income in our consolidated
statements of earnings. As a result, to the extent that CAS pension cost exceeds the service cost component of FAS pension
(expense) income, we have a favorable FAS/CAS pension operating adjustment.
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The total FAS/CAS pension adjustments, including the service and non-service cost components of FAS pension (expense)
income for our qualified defined benefit pension plans, were as follows (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Total FAS (expense) income and CAS cost
FAS pension (expense) income $ (1,058) $ (1,398) $ 118
Less: CAS pension cost 1,796 2,066 1,977
Total FAS/CAS pension adjustment $ 738 § 668 $ 2095
Service and non-service cost reconciliation
FAS pension service cost $ @7 $ 106) $ (101
Less: CAS pension cost 1,796 2,066 1,977
Total FAS/CAS pension operating adjustment 1,709 1,960 1,876
Non-service FAS pension (expense) income 97) (1,292) 219
Total FAS/CAS pension adjustment $ 738 § 668 $ 2095

The total FAS/CAS pension adjustment in 2022 reflects a noncash, non-operating pension settlement charge of
$1.5 billion ($1.2 billion, or $4.33 per share, after-tax) recognized in connection with the transfer of $4.3 billion of our gross
defined benefit pension obligations and related plan assets to an insurance company in the second quarter of 2022. The total
FAS/CAS pension adjustment in 2021 reflects a noncash, non-operating pension settlement charge of $1.7 billion ($1.3 billion,
or $4.72 per share, after-tax) recognized in connection with the transfer of $4.9 billion of our gross defined benefit pension
obligations and related plan assets to an insurance company in the third quarter of 2021. See “Note 11 — Postretirement Benefit
Plans” included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

The following segment discussions also include information relating to backlog for each segment. Backlog was
approximately $150.0 billion and $135.4 billion at December 31, 2022 and 2021. These amounts included both funded backlog
(firm orders for which funding has been both authorized and appropriated by the customer) and unfunded backlog (firm orders
for which funding has not yet been appropriated). Backlog does not include unexercised options or task orders to be issued
under indefinite-delivery, indefinite-quantity contracts. Funded backlog was approximately $95.5 billion at December 31, 2022,
as compared to $88.5 billion at December 31, 2021. If any of our contracts with firm orders were to be terminated, our backlog
would be reduced by the expected value of the unfilled orders of such contracts.

Management evaluates performance on our contracts by focusing on net sales and operating profit and not by type or
amount of operating expense. Consequently, our discussion of business segment performance focuses on net sales and operating
profit, consistent with our approach for managing the business. This approach is consistent throughout the life cycle of our
contracts, as management assesses the bidding of each contract by focusing on net sales and operating profit and monitors
performance on our contracts in a similar manner through their completion.

We regularly provide customers with reports of our costs as the contract progresses. The cost information in the reports is
accumulated in a manner specified by the requirements of each contract. For example, cost data provided to a customer for a
product would typically align to the subcomponents of that product (such as a wing-box on an aircraft) and for services would
align to the type of work being performed (such as aircraft sustainment). Our contracts generally allow for the recovery of costs
in the pricing of our products and services. Most of our contracts are bid and negotiated with our customers under
circumstances in which we are required to disclose our estimated total costs to provide the product or service. This approach for
negotiating contracts with our U.S. Government customers generally allows for recovery of our actual costs plus a reasonable
profit margin. We also may enter into long-term supply contracts for certain materials or components to coincide with the
production schedule of certain products and to ensure their availability at known unit prices.

Many of our contracts span several years and include highly complex technical requirements. At the outset of a contract,
we identify and monitor risks to the achievement of the technical, schedule and cost aspects of the contract and assess the
effects of those risks on our estimates of total costs to complete the contract. The estimates consider the technical requirements
(c.g., a newly-developed product versus a mature product), the schedule and associated tasks (e.g., the number and type of
milestone events) and costs (e.g., material, labor, subcontractor, overhead and the estimated costs to fulfill our industrial
cooperation agreements, sometimes referred to as offset agreements, required under certain contracts with international
customers). The initial profit booking rate of each contract considers risks surrounding the ability to achieve the technical
requirements, schedule and costs in the initial estimated total costs to complete the contract and variable considerations. Profit
booking rates may increase during the performance of the contract if we successfully retire risks related to the technical,
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We have contracted with the Canadian Government for the Canadian Maritime Helicopter Program at our RMS business
segment that provide for design, development, and production of CH-148 aircraft (the Original Equipment contract), which is a
military variant of the S-92 helicopter, and for logistical support to the fleet (the In Service Support contract) over an extended
time period. The program has experienced performance issues, including delays in the final aircraft deliveries from the original
contract requirement, and to date the Royal Canadian Air Force’s flight hours have been less than originally anticipated, which
has impacted program revenues and the recovery of our costs under this program. Future sales and recovery of existing and
future costs under the program are highly dependent upon achieving a certain number of flight hours, which could be adversely
impacted by aircraft availability and performance, and the availability of Canadian government resources. We are currently in
discussions with the Canadian Government to potentially restructure certain contractual terms and conditions that may be
beneficial to both parties. Future performance issues or changes in our estimates due to revised contract scope or customer
requirements may affect our ability to recover our costs and may result in a loss that could be material to our operating results.

We also have a number of contracts with Tiirkish industry for the Tiirkish Utility Helicopter Program (TUHP), which
anticipates co-production with Tiirkish industry for production of T70 helicopters for use in Tiirkiye, as well as the related
provision of Tiirkish goods and services under buy-back or offset obligations, to include the future sales of helicopters built in
Tiirkiye for sale globally. The U.S. Government has imposed certain sanctions on Tiirkish entities and persons that has affected
our ability to perform under contracts supporting the Tiitkish Utility Helicopter Program. As a result of the sanctions, we have
provided force majeure notices under the affected contracts and these contracts may be restructured or terminated, cither in
whole or in part, which could result in a further reduction in sales, the imposition of penalties or assessment of damages, and
increased unrecoverable costs, which could have an adverse effect on our financial results.

Aeronautics

Our Acronautics business segment is engaged in the research, design, development, manufacture, integration, sustainment,
support and upgrade of advanced military aircraft, including combat and air mobility aircraft, unmanned air vehicles and related
technologies. Aeronautics’ major programs include the F-35 Lightning II, C-130 Hercules, F-16 Fighting Falcon and F-22
Raptor. Acronautics’ operating results included the following (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Net sales $ 26,987 $ 26,748 $ 26,266
Operating profit 2,866 2,799 2,843
Operating margin 10.6 % 105 % 10.8 %
Backlog at year-end $ 56,630 $ 49,118 $ 56,551

Acronautics’ net sales in 2022 increased $239 million, or 1%, compared to 2021. Net sales increased by approximately
$375 million on classified contracts primarily due to higher volume; about $80 million for the F-22 program due to higher net
favorable profit adjustments; and approximately $55 million for the F-16 program due to higher volume on production contracts
that was partially offset by lower volume on sustainment contracts and unfavorable profit adjustments on a production contract
and modernization contracts. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of about $310 million for the F-35 program
due to lower volume and favorable profit adjustments on sustainment and production contracts that were partially offset by
higher volume on development contracts.

Aeronautics’ operating profit in 2022 increased $67 million, or 2%, compared to 2021. Operating profit increased
approximately $145 million on classified contracts primarily due to lower unfavorable profit adjustments on a classified
program ($45 million in 2022 compared to $225 million in 2021) that were partially offset by lower favorable profit
adjustments; and about $100 million for the F-22 program due to higher net favorable profit adjustments. These increases were
partially offset by lower operating profit of approximately $110 million for the F-16 program due to unfavorable profit
adjustments in 2022 on a production contract and modemization contracts; and about $80 million for the F-35 program due to
lower net favorable profit adjustments on production and sustainment contracts and volume on sustainment contracts. Net
favorable profit booking rate adjustments were $30 million higher in 2022 compared to 2021.

Backlog

Backlog increased in 2022 compared to 2021 primarily due to the delay of F-35 Lot 15 award from 2021 to 2022 and the
award of the F-35 Lot 16 contract in December 2022.
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Missiles and Fire Control

Our MFC business segment provides air and missile defense systems; tactical missiles and air-to-ground precision strike
weapon systems; logistics; fire control systems; mission operations support, readiness, engineering support and integration
services; manned and unmanned ground vehicles; and energy management solutions. MFC’s major programs include PAC-3,
THAAD, Multiple Launch Rocket System (MLRS), Hellfire, Joint Air-to-Surface Standoff Missile (JASSM), Apache fire
control system, Sniper Advanced Targeting Pod (SNIPER®), Infrared Search and Track (IRST21®) and Special Operations
Forces Global Logistics Support Services (SOF GLSS). MFC’s operating results included the following (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Net sales $ 11,317 $ 11,693 $ 11,257
Operating profit 1,635 1,648 1,545
Operating margin 144 % 141 % 13.7 %
Backlog at year-end $ 28,735 $ 27,021 $ 29,183

MFC’s net sales in 2022 decreased $376 million, or 3%, compared to 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable to
lower net sales of approximately $280 million for sensors and global sustainment programs due to lower volume on SOF GLSS
as a result of changes in mission requirements and lower volume on SNIPER®; and about $60 million for integrated air and
missile defense programs due to lower volume (THAAD) and lower net favorable profit adjustments (PAC-3) that were
partially offset by higher volume (PAC-3). Net sales for tactical and strike missile programs were comparable as higher volume
(PrSM) was offset by lower volume (air dominance weapon systems).

MFC’s operating profit in 2022 decreased $13 million, or 1%, compared to 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable
to lower operating profit of approximately $85 million for integrated air and missile defense programs due to lower net
favorable profit adjustments for the PAC-3 program and an unfavorable profit adjustment of about $40 million on an air and
missile defense development program. This decrease was partially offset by an increase of about $50 million for tactical and
strike missile programs due to contract mix and higher net favorable profit adjustments (an international tactical and strike
missile program and HIMARS) that were partially offset by an unfavorable profit adjustment of about $25 million on an air-to-
ground missile program. There also were unfavorable profit adjustments of approximately $25 million on an energy program in
2021 that did not recur in 2022. Operating profit for sensors and global sustainment programs was comparable as both contract
mix and the net effect of favorable profit adjustments on an international program in 2022 were offset by the closeout activities
related to the Warrior program in 2021 that did not recur in 2022. Net favorable profit booking rate adjustments were $45
million lower in 2022 compared to 2021.

Backlog

Backlog increased in 2022 compared to 2021 primarily due to higher orders on precision fires (GMLRS) and THAAD
programs.

Rotary and Mission Systems

RMS designs, manufactures, services and supports various military and commercial helicopters, surface ships, sea and
land-based missile defense systems, radar systems, sea and air-based mission and combat systems, command and control
mission solutions, cyber solutions, and simulation and training solutions. RMS’ major programs include Aegis Combat System,
Littoral Combat Ship (LCS), Multi-Mission Surface Combatant (MMSC), Black Hawk and Seahawk helicopters, CH-53K King
Stallion heavy lift helicopter, Combat Rescue Helicopter (CRH), VH-92A helicopter, and the C2ZBMC program.

On December 5, 2022, the U.S. Army selected Sikorsky’s competitor in the Future Long Range Assault Aircraft
Competition, a component of its Future Vertical Lift initiative to replace a portion of its assault and utility helicopter fleet. On
December 28, 2022, Sikorsky, on behalf of Team DEFIANT, filed a protest challenging the U.S. Army’s decision, and a ruling
is expected on or before April 7, 2023 based on the 100-day deadline. Sikorsky remains one of two competitors for the other
component of the Future Vertical Lift initiative, the Future Attack Reconnaissance Aircraft competition.
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RMS’ operating results included the following (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Net sales $ 16,148 $ 16,789 $ 15,995
Operating profit 1,673 1,798 1,615
Operating margin 104 % 10.7 % 10.1 %
Backlog at year-end $ 34,949 $ 33,700 $ 36,249

RMS’ net sales in 2022 decreased $641 million, or 4%, compared to 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable to lower
net sales of approximately $280 million for TLS programs primarily due to the delivery of an international pilot training system
in the first quarter of 2021 that did not recur in 2022; about $205 million for various C6ISR programs due to lower volume; and
approximately $170 million for Sikorsky helicopter programs due to lower production volume (Black Hawk) that was partially
offset by higher production volume (CH-53K).

RMS’ operating profit in 2022 decreased $125 million, or 7%, compared to 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable
to approximately $70 million for Sikorsky helicopter programs due to lower production volume and net favorable profit
adjustments (Black Hawk) that were partially offset by higher net favorable profit adjustments (CRH); about $50 million for
various C6ISR programs due to lower net favorable profit adjustments; and approximately $15 million for integrated warfare
systems and sensors (IWSS) programs due to lower net favorable profit adjustments (TPQ-53 and Aegis) that were partially
offset by $30 million of unfavorable profit adjustments on a ground-based radar program in 2021 that did not recur in 2022.
These decreases were partially offset by an increase of approximately $35 million for TLS programs due to higher net favorable
profit adjustments that were partially offset by lower volume due to the delivery of an international pilot training system in the
first quarter of 2021 that did not recur in 2022. Net favorable profit booking rate adjustments were $65 million lower in 2022
compared to 2021.

Backlog
Backlog increased in 2022 compared to 2021 primarily due to higher orders on Sikorsky programs.
Space

Our Space business segment is engaged in the research and design, development, engineering and production of satellites,
space transportation systems, and strategic, advanced strike and defensive systems. Space provides network-enabled situational
awareness and integrates complex space and ground global systems to help our customers gather, analyze, and securely
distribute critical intelligence data. Space is also responsible for various classified systems and services in support of vital
national security systems. Space’s major programs include the Trident IT D5 Fleet Ballistic Missile (FBM), Orion Multi-
Purpose Crew Vehicle (Orion), Space Based Infrared System (SBIRS) and Next Generation Overhead Persistent Infrared (Next
Gen OPIR) system, Global Positioning System (GPS) III, hypersonics programs and Next Generation Interceptor (NGI).
Operating profit for our Space business segment includes our share of earnings for our investment in ULA, which provides
expendable launch services to the U.S. Government and commercial customers. Space’s operating results included the
following (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Net sales $ 11,532 $ 11,814 $ 11,880
Operating profit 1,045 1,134 1,149
Operating margin 91 % 96 % 9.7 %
Backlog at year-end $ 29,684 $ 25,516 $ 25,148

Space’s net sales in 2022 decreased $282 million, or 2%, compared to 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable to
lower net sales of approximately $885 million due to the renationalization of the AWE program on June 30, 2021, which was
no longer included in our financial results beginning in the third quarter of 2021; and about $125 million for commercial civil
space programs due to lower volume (Orion). These decreases were partially offset by higher net sales of about $495 million
for strategic and missile defense programs due to higher development volume (NGI); and about $245 million for national
security space programs due to higher development volume (classified programs).

Space’s operating profit in 2022 decreased $89 million, or 8%, compared to 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable
to approximately $85 million for national security space programs primarily due to lower net favorable profit adjustments
(classified programs and SBIRS) that were partially offset by lower net unfavorable profit adjustments of $25 million on a
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opportunitics when they arise. Consistent with that strategy, we have continued to invest in our business and technologies
through capital expenditures, independent research and development, and selective business acquisitions and investments.

We have returned cash to stockholders through dividends and share repurchases. On October 17, 2022, the Board of
Directors authorized an additional $14.0 billion to the program. During the fourth quarter of 2022, we entered into an
accelerated share repurchase (ASR) agreement to repurchase $4.0 billion of our common stock and issued $4.0 billion of senior
unsecured notes. As of December 31, 2022, the total remaining authorization for future common share repurchases under our
program was $10.0 billion, which is expected to be utilized over a three-year period. We expect to fund the repurchases through
a combination of cash from operations and the issuance of additional debt. The stock repurchase program does not have an
expiration date and may be amended or terminated by the Board of Directors at any time. The amount of shares ultimately
purchased and the timing of purchases are at the discretion of management and subject to compliance with applicable law and
regulation.

We continue to actively manage our debt levels, including maturities and interest rates, as evidenced by the debt transaction
in the second quarter of 2022, the proceeds of which were used to refinance certain upcoming debt maturities between 2023 and
2026. We also actively manage our pension obligations and expect to continue to opportunistically manage our pension
liabilities through the purchase of group annuity contracts for portions of our outstanding defined benefit pension obligations
using assets from the pension trust as we did in the second quarter of 2022. See “Note 11 — Postretirement Benefit Plans™
included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. Future pension risk transfer transactions
could also be significant and result in us making additional contributions to the pension trust.

The following table provides a summary of our cash flow information followed by a discussion of the key elements
(in millions):

2022 2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year $ 3604 $ 3160 $ 1,514
Operating activities

Net earnings 5,732 6,315 6,833

Noncash adjustments 2,455 3,109 1,726

Changes in working capital (733) 9 101

Other, net 348 (212) 477
Net cash provided by operating activities 7,802 9,221 8,183
Net cash used for investing activities (1,789) (1,161) (2,010)
Net cash used for financing activities (7,070) (7,616) 4,527
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (1,057) 444 1,646
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 2,547 $§ 3604 $ 3,160
Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased $1.4 billion in 2022 compared to 2021. The decrease was primarily
attributable to lower cash at Aeronautics, MFC and RMS. The decrease at Aeronautics was primarily due to timing of
production and billing cycles impacting contract assets (primarily F-35). The decrease at MFC was primarily due to timing of
accounts receivables collections. The decrease at RMS was primarily due to liquidation of inventories (primarily TLS and
Sikorsky helicopter programs) in 2021 that did not recur in 2022. As of December 31, 2022, we accelerated $1.5 billion of
payments to suppliers that were due in the first quarter of 2023, compared to $2.2 billion of payments to suppliers as of
December 31, 2021 that were due in the first quarter of 2022. Our federal and foreign income tax payments, net of refunds,
were $1.6 billion in 2022, compared to $1.4 billion in 2021.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure - Free Cash Flow

Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure that we define as cash from operations less capital expenditures. Our
capital expenditures are comprised of equipment and facilities infrastructure and information technology (inclusive of costs for
the development or purchase of internal-use software that are capitalized). We use free cash flow to evaluate our business
performance and overall liquidity, as well as a performance goal in our annual and long-term incentive plans. We believe free
cash flow is a useful measure for investors because it represents the amount of cash generated from operations after reinvesting
in the business and that may be available to return to stockholders and creditors (through dividends, stock repurchases and debt
repayments) or available to fund acquisitions and other investments. The entire amount of free cash flow is not necessarily
available for discretionary expenditures, however, because it does not account for certain mandatory expenditures, such as the
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repayment of maturing debt and pension contributions. While management believes that free cash flow as a non-GAAP
financial measure may be useful in evaluating our financial performance, it should be considered supplemental to, and not a
substitute for, financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled measures
used by other companies.

The following table reconciles net cash provided by operating activities to free cash flow (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Cash from operations $ 7,802 $ 9221 $ 8183
Capital expenditures (1,670) (1,522) (1,766)
Free cash flow $ 6,132 $ 7,699 $ 6417

Investing Activities

Cash flows related to investing activities primarily include capital expenditures and payments for acquisitions and
divestitures of businesses and investments. The majority of our capital expenditures are for equipment and facilities
infrastructure that generally are incurred to support new and existing programs across all of our business segments. We also
incur capital expenditures for information technology to support programs and general enterprise information technology
infrastructure, inclusive of costs for the development or purchase of internal-use software.

Net cash used for investing activities increased $628 million in 2022 compared to 2021. The increase in cash used for
investing activities is due to an increase in capital expenditures and the receipt of $307 million in 2021 from the sale of our
ownership interest in the Advanced Military Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul Center (AMMROC) joint venture. Capital
expenditures totaled $1.7 billion and $1.5 billion in 2022 and 2021.

Financing Activities

Net cash used for financing activities decreased $546 million in 2022 compared to 2021, primarily due to repayment of
$500 million of long-term notes in 2021.

We paid dividends totaling $3.0 billion ($11.40 per share) in 2022 and $2.9 billion ($10.60 per share) in 2021. We paid
quarterly dividends of $2.80 per share during each of the first three quarters of 2022 and $3.00 per share during the fourth
quarter of 2022. We paid quarterly dividends of $2.60 per share during each of the first three quarters of 2021 and $2.80 per
share during the fourth quarter of 2021.

During 2022, we paid $7.9 billion to repurchase 18.3 million shares of our common stock. See “Note 12 — Stockholders’
Equity” included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. During 2021, we paid
$4.1 billion to repurchase 11.7 million shares of our common stock.

In October 2022, we received net proceeds of $3.9 billion from issuance of senior unsecured notes and used the net
proceeds from the offering to enter into an ASR agreement to repurchase $4.0 billion of our common stock. See “Note 10 —
Debt” included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

In May 2022, we received net proceeds of $2.3 billion from issuance of senior unsecured notes and used the net proceeds
from the offering to redeem all of the outstanding $500 million Notes due 2023, $750 million Notes due 2025 and used the
remaining balance of the net proceeds to redeem $1.0 billion of our outstanding $2.0 billion Notes due 2026.

In September 2021, we repaid $500 million of long-term notes with a fixed interest rate of 3.35% according to their
scheduled maturities.

Capital Structure, Resources and Other

At December 31, 2022, we held cash and cash equivalents of $2.5 billion that were generally available to fund ordinary
business operations without significant legal, regulatory, or other restrictions.

Our outstanding debt, net of unamortized discounts and issuance costs, was $15.5 billion as of December 31, 2022 and is in
the form of publicly-issued notes that bear interest at fixed rates. As of December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with all
covenants contained in our debt and credit agreements. See “Note 10 — Debt” included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for more information on our long-term debt and revolving credit facilities.
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Contractual Commitments

At December 31, 2022, we had contractual commitments to repay debt, make payments under operating leases, settle
obligations related to agreements to purchase goods and services and settle tax and other liabilities. Financing lease obligations
were not material. Payments due under these obligations and commitments are as follows (in millions):

Due Within
Total 1 Year

Total debt $ 16,842 §$ 118
Interest payments 15,028 768
Other liabilities 3,520 222
Operating lease obligations 1,342 327
Purchase obligations:

Operating activities 59,101 27,925

Capital expenditures 671 472
Total contractual cash obligations $ 96,504 $ 29,832

The table above includes debt presented gross of any unamortized discounts and issuance costs, but excludes the net
unfunded obligation and estimated minimum funding requirements related to our qualified defined benefit pension plans. For
additional information about obligations and our future minimum contribution requirements for these plans, see “Note 11 —
Postretirement Benefit Plans™ included in our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. Amounts related to other liabilities
represent the contractual obligations for certain long-term liabilities recorded as of December 31, 2022. Such amounts mainly
include expected payments under non-qualified pension plans, environmental liabilities and deferred compensation plans.

Purchase obligations related to operating activities include agreements and contracts that give the supplier recourse to us
for cancellation or nonperformance under the contract or contain terms that would subject us to liquidated damages. Such
agreements and contracts may, for example, be related to direct materials, obligations to subcontractors and outsourcing
arrangements. Total purchase obligations for operating activities in the preceding table include approximately $53.7 billion
related to contractual commitments entered into as a result of contracts we have with our U.S. Government customers. The U.S.
Government generally would be required to pay us for any costs we incur relative to these commitments if they were to
terminate the related contracts “for convenience” under the FAR, subject to available funding. This also would be true in cases
where we perform subcontract work for a prime contractor under a U.S. Government contract. The termination for convenience
language also may be included in contracts with foreign, state and local governments. We also have contracts with customers
that do not include termination for convenience provisions, including contracts with commercial customers.

The majority of our capital expenditures for 2022 and those planned for 2023 are for equipment, facilities infrastructure
and information technology. The amounts above in the table represent the portion of expected capital expenditures to be
incurred in 2023 and beyond that have been obligated under contracts as of December 31, 2022 and not necessarily total capital
expenditures for future periods. Expenditures for equipment and facilities infrastructure are generally incurred to support new
and existing programs across all of our business segments. For example, we have projects underway at Acronautics to support
classified development programs and at RMS to support our Sikorsky helicopter programs; and we have projects underway to
modernize certain of our facilities. We also incur capital expenditures for information technology to support programs and
general enterprise information technology infrastructure, inclusive of costs for the development or purchase of internal-use
software.

We also may enter into industrial cooperation agreements, sometimes referred to as offset agreements, as a condition to
obtaining orders for our products and services from certain customers in foreign countries. These agreements are designed to
enhance the social and economic environment of the foreign country by requiring the contractor to promote investment in the
country. Offset agreements may be satisfied through activities that do not require us to use cash, including transferring
technology, providing manufacturing and other consulting support to in-country projects and the purchase by third parties (e.g.,
our vendors) of supplies from in-country vendors. These agreements also may be satisfied through our use of cash for such
activities as purchasing supplies from in-country vendors, providing financial support for in-country projects, establishment of
joint ventures with local companies and building or leasing facilities for in-country operations. We typically do not commit to
offset agreements until orders for our products or services are definitive. The amounts ultimately applied against our offset
agreements are based on negotiations with the customer and typically require cash outlays that represent only a fraction of the
original amount in the offset agreement. Satisfaction of our offset obligations are included in the estimates of our total costs to
complete the contract and may impact our sales, profitability and cash flows. Our ability to recover investments on our
consolidated balance sheet that we make to satisfy offset obligations is generally dependent upon the successful operation of
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ventures that we do not control and may involve products and services that are dissimilar to our business activities. At
December 31, 2022, the notional value of remaining obligations under our outstanding offset agreements totaled approximately
$16.1 billion, which primarily relate to our Aeronautics, MFC and RMS business segments, most of which extend through
2044. To the extent we have entered into purchase or other obligations at December 31, 2022 that also satisfy offset
agreements, those amounts are included in the contractual commitments table above. Offset programs usually extend over
several years and may provide for penalties, estimated at approximately $1.8 billion at December 31, 2022, in the event we fail
to perform in accordance with offset requirements. While historically we have not been required to pay material penalties,
resolution of offset requirements are often the result of negotiations and subjective judgments.

We have entered into standby letters of credit and surety bonds issued on our behalf by financial institutions, and we have
directly issued guarantees to third parties primarily relating to advances received from customers and the guarantee of future
performance on certain contracts. Letters of credit and surety bonds generally are available for draw down in the event we do
not perform. In some cases, we may guarantee the contractual performance of third parties such as joint venture partners. At
December 31, 2022, we had the following outstanding letters of credit, surety bonds and third-party guarantees (in millions):

Total Less Than
Commitment 1 Year
Standby letters of credit © $ 2,504 § 966
Surety bonds 342 342
Third-party Guarantees 904 230
Total commitments $ 3,750 § 1,538

@ Approximately $704 million of standby letters of credit in the “Less Than 1 Year” category are expected to renew for additional periods
until completion of the contractual obligation.

At December 31, 2022, third-party guarantees totaled $904 million, of which approximately 71% related to guarantees of
contractual performance of joint ventures to which we currently are or previously were a party. These amounts represent our
estimate of the maximum amounts we would expect to incur upon the contractual non-performance of the joint venture, joint
venture partners or divested businesses. Generally, we also have cross-indemnities in place that may enable us to recover
amounts that may be paid on behalf of a joint venture partner.

In determining our exposures, we evaluate the reputation, performance on contractual obligations, technical capabilities
and credit quality of our current and former joint venture partners and the transferee under novation agreements, all of which
include a guarantee as required by the FAR. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no material amounts recorded in our
financial statements related to third-party guarantees or novation agreements.

Critical Accounting Policies
Contract Accounting / Sales Recognition

The majority of our net sales are generated from long-term contracts with the U.S. Government and international
customers (including FMS contracted through the U.S. Government) for the research, design, development, manufacture,
integration and sustainment of advanced technology systems, products and services. We account for a contract when it has
approval and commitment from both parties, the rights of the parties are identified, payment terms are identified, the contract
has commercial substance and collectability of consideration is probable. For certain contracts that meet the foregoing
requirements, primarily international direct commercial sale contracts, we are required to obtain certain regulatory approvals. In
these cases, we recognize revenue when it is probable that we will receive regulatory approvals based upon all known facts and
circumstances. We provide our products and services under fixed-price and cost-reimbursable contracts.

Under fixed-price contracts, we agree to perform the specified work for a pre-determined price. To the extent our actual
costs vary from the estimates upon which the price was negotiated, we will generate more or less profit or could incur a loss.
Some fixed-price contracts have a performance-based component under which we may earn incentive payments or incur
financial penalties based on our performance.

Cost-reimbursable contracts provide for the payment of allowable costs incurred during performance of the contract plus a
fee up to a ceiling based on the amount that has been funded. Typically, we enter into three types of cost-reimbursable
contracts: cost-plus-award-fee, cost-plus-incentive-fee, and cost-plus-fixed-fee. Cost-plus-award-fee contracts provide for an
award fee that varies within specified limits based on the customer’s assessment of our performance against a predetermined set
of criteria, such as targets based on cost, quality, technical and schedule criteria. Cost-plus-incentive-fee contracts provide for
reimbursement of costs plus a fee, which is adjusted by a formula based on the relationship of total allowable costs to total
target costs (i.c., incentive based on cost) or reimbursement of costs plus an incentive to exceed stated performance targets (i.c.,
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Lockheed Martin Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Earnings
(in millions, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Net sales
Products $ 55466 $ 56435 $§ 54,928
Services 10,518 10,609 10,470
Total net sales 65,984 67,044 65,398
Cost of sales
Products (49,577) (50,273) (48,996)
Services (9,280) (9,463) (9,371)
Severance and other charges (100) (36) 27
Other unallocated, net 1,260 1,789 1,650
Total cost of sales (57,697) (57,983) (56,744)
Gross profit 8,287 9,061 8,654
Other income (expense), net 61 62 (10)
Operating profit 8,348 9,123 8,644
Interest expense (623) (569) (591
Non-service FAS pension (expense) income 971) (1,292) 219
Other non-operating (expense) income, net (74) 288 (37
Earnings from continuing operations before income taxes 6,680 7,550 8,235
Income tax expense (948) (1,235) (1,347)
Net earnings from continuing operations 5,732 6,315 6,888
Net loss from discontinued operations — — (55)
Net earnings $ 5732 $ 6315 $ 6,833
Earnings (loss) per common share
Basic
Continuing operations $ 2174 $ 2285 $§ 2460
Discontinued operations — — (0.20)
Basic earnings per common share $ 2174 $ 2285 § 2440
Diluted
Continuing operations $ 2166 $ 2276 $ 2450
Discontinued operations — — (0.20)
Diluted earnings per common share $ 2166 $ 2276 $§ 2430

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Lockheed Martin Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in millions)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Net earnings $ 5732 $ 6315 $ 6,833
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Postretirement benefit plans
Net actuarial gain (loss) recognized due to plan remeasurements, net of tax of
$518 million in 2022, $925 million in 2021 and $292 million in 2020 1,873 3,404 (1,067)
Amortization of actuarial losses and prior service credits, net of tax of $18 million
in 2022, $130 million in 2021 and $119 million in 2020 69 477 440
Pension settlement charge, net of tax of $314 million in 2022 and $355 million in
2021 1,156 1,310 —
Other, net, net of tax of $2 million in 2022, $11 million in 2021 and $5 million in
2020 (115) (76) 60
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 2,983 5,115 (567)
Comprehensive income $ 8715 $§ 11430 $ 6,266

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Lockheed Martin Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in millions, except par value)

December 31,

2022 2021
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2547 $§ 3,604
Receivables, net 2,505 1,963
Contract assets 12,318 10,579
Inventories 3,088 2,981
Other current assets 533 688
Total current assets 20,991 19,815
Property, plant and equipment, net 7,975 7,597
Goodwill 10,780 10,813
Intangible assets, net 2,459 2,706
Deferred income taxes 3,744 2,290
Other noncurrent assets 6,931 7,652
Total assets $ 52880 $§ 50873
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 2,117 $ 780
Salaries, benefits and payroll taxes 3,075 3,108
Contract liabilities 8,488 8,107
Other current liabilities 2,207 2,002
Total current liabilities 15,887 13,997
Long-term debt, net 15,429 11,670
Accrued pension liabilities 5,472 8,319
Other noncurrent liabilities 6,826 5,928
Total liabilities 43,614 39,914
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $1 par value per share 254 271
Additional paid-in capital 92 94
Retained earnings 16,943 21,600
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (8,023) (11,006)
Total stockholders’ equity 9,266 10,959
Total liabilitics and equity $ 52,880 $ 50,873

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Lockheed Martin Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Operating activities
Net earnings 5732 $§ 6315 $ 6,833
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization 1,404 1,364 1,290
Stock-based compensation 238 227 221
Equity method investment impairment — — 128
Tax resolution related to former IS&GS business — — 55
Deferred income taxes (757) (183) 5
Pension settlement charge 1,470 1,665 —
Severance and other charges 100 36 27
Changes in:
Receivables, net (542) 15 359
Contract assets (1,739) (1,034) 451
Inventories (107) 564 74
Accounts payable 1,274 (98) (372)
Contract liabilities 381 562 491
Income taxes 148 45 (19)
Qualified defined benefit pension plans (412) (267) (1,197)
Other, net 612 10 739
Net cash provided by operating activities 7,802 9,221 8,183
Investing activities
Capital expenditures (1,670) (1,522) (1,766)
Other, net (119) 361 (244)
Net cash used for investing activities (1,789) (1,161) (2,010
Financing activities
Issuance of long-term debt, net of related costs 6,211 — 1,131
Repayments of long-term debt (2,250) (500) (1,650)
Repurchases of common stock (7,900) (4,087) (1,100)
Dividends paid (3,016) (2,940) (2,764)
Other, net (115) (89) (144)
Net cash used for financing activities (7,070) (7,616) 4,527)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (1,057) 444 1,646
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 3,604 3,160 1,514
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 2547 $§ 3604 $ 3,160

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Lockheed Martin Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Equity
(in millions, except per share data)

Accumulated
Additional Other Total Noncontrolling
Common  Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’  Interests in Total
Stock Capital Earnings Loss Equity Subsidiary  Equity

Balance at December 31,2019 § 280 $ — $ 18401 $ (15,554) $ 3,127 $ 44 $ 3,171
Net earnings — — 6,833 — 6,833 — 6,833
Other comprehensive loss, net

of tax — — — (367) (567) — (567)
Repurchases of common stock 3) (256) (841) — (1,100) — (1,100)
Dividends declared ($9.80 per

share) — — (2,757) — (2,757) — (2,757)
Stock-based awards, ESOP

activity and other 2 477 — — 479 — 479
Net decrease in noncontrolling

interests in subsidiary — — — — — (21 €2))
Balance at December 31,2020 279 $ 221§ 21,636 $ (16,121) $ 6,015 § 23 $ 6,038
Net earnings — — 6,315 — 6,315 — 6,315
Other comprehensive income,

net of tax — — — 5,115 5,115 — 5,115
Repurchases of common stock S (671) (3,407) — (4,087) — (4,087)
Dividends declared ($10.60 per

share) — — (2,944) — (2,944) — (2,944)
Stock-based awards, ESOP

activity and other 1 544 — — 545 — 545
Net decrease in noncontrolling

interests in subsidiary — — — — — (23) (23)
Balance at December 31,2021  §$ 271 $ 94 § 21,600 $ (11,006) $ 10959 § — $ 10,959
Net earnings — — 5,732 — 5,732 — 5,732
Other comprehensive income,

net of tax — — — 2,983 2,983 — 2,983
Repurchases of common stock (18) (503) (7,379) — (7,900) — (7,900)
Dividends declared ($11.40 per

share) — — (3,010) — (3,010 — (3,010)
Stock-based awards, ESOP

activity and other 1 501 — — 502 — 502
Balance at December 31,2022  § 254 $ 92 § 16943 $ 8,023) $ 9266 $ — $ 9,266

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Postemployment plans — We record a liability for postemployment benefits, such as severance or job training, typically
when payment is probable, the amount is reasonably estimable, and the obligation relates to rights that have vested or
accumulated.

Environmental matters — We record a liability for environmental matters when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The amount of liability recorded is based on our estimate of the costs to
be incurred for remediation at a particular site. We do not discount the recorded liabilities, as the amount and timing of future
cash payments are not fixed or cannot be reliably determined. Our environmental liabilities are recorded on our consolidated
balance sheets within other liabilities, both current and noncurrent. We expect to include a substantial portion of environmental
costs in our net sales and cost of sales in future periods pursuant to U.S. Government regulation. At the time a liability is
recorded for future environmental costs, we record assets for estimated future recovery considered probable through the pricing
of products and services to agencies of the U.S. Government, regardless of the contract form (e.g., cost-reimbursable, fixed-
price). We continually evaluate the recoverability of our assets for the portion of environmental costs that are probable of future
recovery by assessing, among other factors, U.S. Government regulations, our U.S. Government business base and contract
mix, our history of receiving reimbursement of such costs, and efforts by some U.S. Government representatives to limit such
reimbursement. We include the portions of those environmental costs expected to be allocated to our non-U.S. Government
contracts, or determined not to be recoverable under U.S. Government contracts, in our cost of sales at the time the liability is
established or adjusted. Our assets for the portion of environmental costs that are probable of future recovery are recorded on
our consolidated balance sheets within other assets, both current and noncurrent. We project costs and recovery of costs over
approximately 20 years.

Derivative financial instruments — Derivatives are recorded at their fair value and included in other current and
noncurrent assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. The classification of gains and losses resulting from
changes in the fair values of derivatives is dependent on our intended use of the derivative and its resulting designation.
Adjustments to reflect changes in fair values of derivatives attributable to highly effective hedges are either reflected in
earnings and largely offset by corresponding adjustments to the hedged items or reflected net of income taxes in accumulated
other comprehensive loss until the hedged transaction is recognized in earnings. Changes in the fair value of the derivatives that
are not highly effective, if any, are immediately recognized in earnings.

Note 2 — Earnings Per Share

The weighted average number of shares outstanding used to compute earnings per common share were as follows
(in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic computations 263.7 276.4 280.0
Weighted average dilutive effect of equity awards 0.9 1.0 1.2
Weighted average common shares outstanding for diluted computations 264.6 277.4 281.2

We compute basic and diluted earnings per common share by dividing net earnings by the respective weighted average
number of common shares outstanding for the periods presented. Our calculation of diluted earnings per common share also
includes the dilutive effects for the assumed vesting of outstanding restricted stock units (RSUs) and performance stock units
(PSUs) based on the treasury stock method. There were no significant anti-dilutive equity awards for the years ended December
31,2022, 2021 and 2020. Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding decreased in 2022 compared to 2021
due to share repurchases.

Note 3 — Information on Business Segments
Overview

We operate in four business segments: Aeronautics, MFC, RMS and Space. We organize our business segments based on
the nature of products and services offered. Following is a brief description of the activities of our business segments:

* Acronautics — Engaged in the research, design, development, manufacture, integration, sustainment, support and upgrade
of advanced military aircraft, including combat and air mobility aircraft, unmanned air vehicles and related technologies.

e Missiles and Fire Control — Provides air and missile defense systems; tactical missiles and air-to-ground precision strike
weapon systems; logistics; fire control systems; mission operations support, readiness, engineering support and integration
services; manned and unmanned ground vehicles; and energy management solutions.
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Rotary and Mission Systems — Designs, manufactures, services and supports various military and commercial helicopters,
surface ships, sea and land-based missile defense systems, radar systems, sea and air-based mission and combat systems,
command and control mission solutions, cyber solutions, and simulation and training solutions.

Space — Engaged in the research and design, development, engineering and production of satellites, space transportation
systems, and strategic, advanced strike, and defensive systems. Space provides network-enabled situational awareness and
integrates complex space and ground global systems to help our customers gather, analyze and securely distribute critical
intelligence data. Space is also responsible for various classified systems and services in support of vital national security
systems. Operating profit for our Space business segment also includes our share of earnings for our 50% ownership
interest in ULA, which provides expendable launch services to the U.S. Government and commercial customers. Our
investment in ULA totaled $571 million and $585 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Selected Financial Data by Business Segment

Net sales of our business segments in the following tables exclude intersegment sales as these activities are eliminated in

consolidation and thus are not included in management’s evaluation of performance of each segment. Business segment

operating profit includes our share of earnings or losses from equity method investees as the operating activities of the equity

method investees are closely aligned with the operations of our business segments.

Summary Operating Results

Sales and operating profit for each of our business segments were as follows (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Net sales
Aeronautics $ 26987 $ 26,748 $ 26,266
Missiles and Fire Control 11,317 11,693 11,257
Rotary and Mission Systems 16,148 16,789 15,995
Space 11,532 11,814 11,880
Total net sales $ 65984 §$ 67,044 $ 65398
Operating profit
Aeronautics $ 2866 $ 2799 $§ 2843
Missiles and Fire Control 1,635 1,648 1,545
Rotary and Mission Systems 1,673 1,798 1,615
Space 1,045 1,134 1,149
Total business segment operating profit 7,219 7,379 7,152
Unallocated items
FAS/CAS pension operating adjustment 1,709 1,960 1,876
Severance and other charges ® (100) (36) 27
Other, net ® (480) (180) (357)
Total unallocated, net 1,129 1,744 1,492

Total consolidated operating profit

$ 8348 $ 9,123 § 8644

(a) Severance and other charges in 2022 include $100 million (879 million, or $0.31 per share, after-tax) charge related to actions at our

RMS business segment, which include severance costs for reduction of positions and asset impairment charges; $36 million ($28 million,
or $0.10 per share, after-tax) charge during 2021 associated with plans to close and consolidate certain facilities and reduce total
workforce within our RMS business segment; and $27 million ($21 million, or $0.08 per share, after-tax) charge during 2020 related to
the planned elimination of certain positions primarily at our corporate functions.

®  Other, net in 2020 includes a noncash impairment charge of $128 million ($96 million, or $0.34 per share, after-tax) for our investment
in the international equity method investee, AMMROC. (See “Note 1 — Organization and Significant Accounting Policies™).
Unallocated Items

Business segment operating profit excludes the FAS/CAS pension operating adjustment described below, a portion of

corporate costs not considered allowable or allocable to contracts with the U.S. Government under the applicable U.S.
Government cost accounting standards (CAS) or federal acquisition regulations (FAR), and other items not considered part of
management’s evaluation of segment operating performance such as a portion of management and administration costs, legal
fees and settlements, environmental costs, stock-based compensation expense, changes in the fair value of investments held in a
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trust for deferred compensation plans, retiree benefits, significant severance actions, significant asset impairments, gains or
losses from divestitures, and other miscellaneous corporate activities. Excluded items are included in the reconciling item
“Unallocated items” between operating profit from our business segments and our consolidated operating profit. See “Note 1 —
Organization and Significant Accounting Policies” (under the caption “Use of Estimates™) for a discussion related to certain
factors that may impact the comparability of net sales and operating profit of our business segments.

FAS/CAS Pension Operating Adjustment

Our business segments’ results of operations include pension expense only as calculated under U.S. Government Cost
Accounting Standards (CAS), which we refer to as CAS pension cost. We recover CAS pension and other postretirement
benefit plan cost through the pricing of our products and services on U.S. Government contracts and, therefore, recognize CAS
pension cost in each of our business segment’s net sales and cost of sales. Our consolidated financial statements must present
pension and other postretirement benefit plan (expense) income calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards
(FAS) requirements under U.S. GAAP. The operating portion of the total FAS/CAS pension adjustment represents the
difference between the service cost component of FAS pension (expense) income and total CAS pension cost. The non-service
FAS pension (expense) income components are included in non-service FAS pension (expense) income in our consolidated
statements of earnings. As a result, to the extent that CAS pension cost exceeds the service cost component of FAS pension
(expense) income, we have a favorable FAS/CAS pension operating adjustment.

The total FAS/CAS pension adjustments, including the service and non-service cost components of FAS pension (expense)
income for our qualified defined benefit pension plans, were as follows (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Total FAS (expense) income and CAS cost
FAS pension (expense) income $ (1,058 $ (1,398) $ 118
Less: CAS pension cost 1,796 2,066 1,977
Total FAS/CAS pension adjustment $ 738 § 668 $ 2095
Service and non-service cost reconciliation
FAS pension service cost $ @ $ 106 $ (101
Less: CAS pension cost 1,796 2,066 1,977
Total FAS/CAS pension operating adjustment 1,709 1,960 1,876
Non-service FAS pension (expense) income 97) (1,292) 219
Total FAS/CAS pension adjustment $ 738 § 668 § 2,095

The total FAS/CAS pension adjustment in 2022 reflects a noncash, non-operating pension settlement charge of $1.5 billion
($1.2 billion, or $4.33 per share, after-tax) recognized in connection with the transfer of $4.3 billion of our gross defined benefit
pension obligations and related plan assets to an insurance company in the second quarter of 2022. The total FAS/CAS pension
adjustment in 2021 reflects a noncash, non-operating pension settlement charge of $1.7 billion ($1.3 billion, or $4.72 per share,
after-tax) in connection with the transfer of $4.9 billion of our gross defined benefit pension obligations and related plan assets
to an insurance company in the third quarter of 2021. See “Note 11 — Postretirement Benefit Plans” included in our Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Intersegment Sales

Sales between our business segments are excluded from our consolidated and segment operating results as these activities
are eliminated in consolidation. Intersegment sales for each of our business segments were as follows (in millions):

2022 2021 2020

Intersegment sales
Aecronautics $ 249 § 219 § 243
Missiles and Fire Control 627 618 562
Rotary and Mission Systems 1,930 1,895 1,903
Space 381 360 377
Total intersegment sales $ 3,187 $ 3,092 $ 3,085
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Disaggregation of Net Sales

Net sales by products and services, contract type, customer category and geographic region for each of our business

segments were as follows (in millions):

2022
Aecronautics MFC RMS Space Total
Net sales
Products $ 22,870 10,048 12,811 9,737 55,466
Services 4,117 1,269 3,337 1,795 10,518
Total net sales $ 26,987 11,317 16,148 11,532 65,984
Net sales by contract type
Fixed-price $ 19,431 8,014 10,460 3,064 40,969
Cost-reimbursable 7,556 3,303 5,688 8,468 25,015
Total net sales $ 26,987 11,317 16,148 11,532 65,984
Net sales by customer
U.S. Government $ 18,026 7,814 11,331 11,344 48,515
International ® 8,811 3,496 4,470 154 16,931
U.S. commercial and other 150 7 347 34 538
Total net sales $ 26,987 11,317 16,148 11,532 65,984
Net sales by geographic region
United States $ 18,176 7,821 11,678 11,378 49,053
Europe 4,303 1,020 857 87 6,267
Asia Pacific 2,970 461 1,994 54 5,479
Middle East 1,103 1,858 823 12 3,796
Other 435 157 796 1 1,389
Total net sales $ 26,987 11,317 16,148 11,532 65,984
2021
Aeronautics MFC RMS Space Total
Net sales
Products $ 22,631 10,269 13,483 10,052 56,435
Services 4,117 1,424 3,306 1,762 10,609
Total net sales $ 26,748 11,693 16,789 11,814 67,044
Net sales by contract type
Fixed-price $ 19,734 8,079 11,125 2,671 41,609
Cost-reimbursable 7,014 3,614 5,664 9,143 25,435
Total net sales $ 26,748 11,693 16,789 11,814 67,044
Net sales by customer
U.S. Government $ 17,262 8,341 11,736 10,811 48,150
International © 9,403 3,346 4,719 971 18,439
U.S. commercial and other 83 6 334 32 455
Total net sales $ 26,748 11,693 16,789 11,814 67,044
Net sales by geographic region
United States $ 17,345 8,347 12,070 10,843 48,605
Europe 3,973 910 909 968 6,760
Asia Pacific 3,644 292 2,178 (6) 6,108
Middle East 1,351 2,066 827 9 4,253
Other 435 78 805 — 1,318
Total net sales $ 26,748 11,693 16,789 11,814 67,044
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2020

Aeronautics MFC RMS Space Total
Net sales
Products $ 22327 $ 9,804 $ 12,748  § 10,049 §$ 54,928
Services 3,939 1,453 3,247 1,831 10,470
Total net sales $ 26266 § 11,257 $ 15,995 §$ 11,880 $ 65,398
Net sales by contract type
Fixed-price $ 18,477 $ 7,587 $ 10,795 $ 2,247 $ 39,106
Cost-reimbursable 7,789 3,670 5,200 9,633 26,292
Total net sales $ 26,266 $ 11,257 § 15,995 §$ 11,880 $ 65,398
Net sales by customer
U.S. Government $ 18,175 $ 8,404 $ 11,596 $ 10,293  § 48,468
International @ 8,012 2,842 3,986 1,546 16,386
U.S. commercial and other 79 11 413 41 544
Total net sales $ 26266 § 11,257 $ 15,995 §$ 11,880 $ 65,398
Net sales by geographic region
United States $ 18,254 § 8,415 $ 12,009 $ 10,334 § 49,012
Europe 3,283 767 806 1,478 6,334
Asia Pacific 3,162 280 1,666 68 5,176
Middle East 1,344 1,749 847 — 3,940
Other 223 46 667 — 936
Total net sales $§ 26266 § 11,257 $ 15,995 §$ 11,880 $ 65,398

@ International sales include FMS contracted through the U.S. Government, direct commercial sales with international governments and

commercial and other sales to international customers.

Our Acronautics business segment includes our largest program, the F-35 Lightning II Joint Strike Fighter, an international
multi-role, multi-variant, stealth fighter aircraft. Net sales for the F-35 program represented approximately 27% of our
consolidated net sales during both 2022 and 2021 and 28% during 2020.

Capital Expenditures, PP&E Depreciation and Software Amortization, and Amortization of Purchased Intangibles

2022 2021 2020
Capital expenditures
Acronautics $ 461 $§ 477 § 534
Missiles and Fire Control 253 304 391
Rotary and Mission Systems 266 279 311
Space 391 305 403
Total business segment capital expenditures 1,371 1,365 1,639
Corporate activities 299 157 127
Total capital expenditures $ 1,670 $ 1522 $§ 1,766
PP&E depreciation and software amortization
Acronautics $ 38 $§ 348 $ 348
Missiles and Fire Control 160 153 136
Rotary and Mission Systems 245 250 244
Space 201 205 182
Total business segment depreciation and amortization 989 956 910
Corporate activities 167 123 109
Total depreciation and amortization $ 1,156 $ 1,079 $ 1,019
Amortization of purchased intangibles
Acronautics $ 1 5 1 $ —
Missiles and Fire Control 2 2 2
Rotary and Mission Systems 233 232 232
Space 12 50 37
Total amortization of purchased intangibles $ 248 $§ 285 § 271

@ Excludes amortization of purchased intangibles.
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Assets

Total assets for each of our business segments were as follows (in millions):
2022 2021

Assets
Acronautics
Missiles and Fire Control
Rotary and Mission Systems

$ 12,055 $ 10,756
5,788 5,243
17,988 17,664
6,351 6,199

Space
Total business segment assets 42,182 39,862
Corporate assets @ 10,698 11,011

Total assets $ 52,880 $ 50,873

@ Corporate assets primarily include cash and cash equivalents, deferred income taxes, assets for the portion of environmental costs that
are probable of future recovery, property, plant and equipment, investments held in a separate trust for deferred compensation plans and
other marketable investments.

Note 4 — Receivables, net, Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

Receivables, net, contract assets and contract liabilities were as follows (in millions):

2022 2021
Receivables, net $ 2505 $ 1,963
Contract assets 12,318 10,579
Contract liabilities 8,488 8,107

Receivables, net consist of approximately $1.8 billion from the U.S. Government and $732 million from other governments
and commercial customers as of December 31, 2022. Substantially all accounts receivable at December 31, 2022 are expected
to be collected in 2023. We do not believe we have significant exposure to credit risk as the majority of our accounts receivable
are due from the U.S. Government either as the ultimate customer or in connection with foreign military sales.

Contract assets are net of progress payments and performance based payments from our customers as well as advance
payments from non-U.S. Government customers totaling approximately $47.0 billion and $43.9 billion as of December 31,
2022 and 2021. Contract assets increased $1.7 billion during 2022, primarily due to the recognition of revenue related to the
satisfaction or partial satisfaction of performance obligations during 2022 for which we have not yet billed our customers
(primarily on the F-35 program at Aeronautics). There were no significant credit or impairment losses related to our contract
assets during 2022 and 2021. We expect to bill our customers for the majority of the December 31, 2022 contract assets during

2023.

Contract liabilities increased $381 million during 2022, primarily due to payments received in excess of revenue
recognized on these performance obligations. During 2022, we recognized $4.8 billion of our contract liabilities at December
31, 2021 as revenue. During 2021, we recognized $4.5 billion of our contract liabilities at December 31, 2020 as revenue.
During 2020, we recognized $4.0 billion of our contract liabilities at December 31, 2019 as revenue.

Note 5 — Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following (in millions):

2022 2021
Materials, spares and supplies $ 599 $ 624
Work-in-process 2,297 2,163
Finished goods 192 194
Total inventories $ 3,088 § 2981

Costs incurred to fulfill a contract in advance of the contract being awarded are included in inventories as work-in-process
if we determine that those costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that we can specifically identify and
determine that contract award is probable, the costs generate or enhance resources that will be used in satisfying performance
obligations, and the costs are recoverable (referred to as pre-contract costs). Pre-contract costs that are initially capitalized in
inventory are generally recognized as cost of sales consistent with the transfer of products and services to the customer upon the
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receipt of the anticipated contract. All other pre-contract costs, including start-up costs, are expensed as incurred. As of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, $791 million and $634 million of pre-contract costs were included in inventories.

Note 6 — Property, Plant and Equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following (in millions):

2022 2021

Land $ 147 $ 144
Buildings 8,555 8,003
Machinery and equipment 9,400 9,053
Construction in progress 2,036 1,900
Total property, plant and equipment 20,138 19,100
Less: accumulated depreciation (12,163) (11,503)
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 7975 $§ 7,597

Depreciation expense related to plant and equipment was $903 million in 2022, $904 million in 2021 and $853 million in
2020.

Note 7 — Goodwill and Acquired Intangibles

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by business segment were as follows (in millions):

Aeronautics MFC RMS Space Total
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 187 $ 2,091 $ 6,768 § 1,760 $ 10,806
Acquisitions — — — 17 17
Other — (D) ) — (10)
Balance at December 31, 2021 187 2,090 6,759 1,777 10,813
Acquisitions — — 3 — 3
Other 9 @) (36) ) 36)
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 196 $ 2,083 $ 6,726 $ 1,775 § 10,780

The gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization of our acquired intangible assets consisted of the following
(useful life in years, $ in millions):

2022 2021
Estimated  Gross Net Gross Net
Useful Carrying Accumulated Carrying | Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Lives Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Finite-Lived:

Customer programs 9-20 $ 3,186 $ (1,664) $ 1,522 |$ 3,184 § (1,431) $ 1,753
Customer relationships 4-10 94 (78) 16 120 (96) 24
Other 3-10 72 (38) 34 76 (34 42
Total finite-lived intangibles 3,352 (1,780) 1,572 3,380 (1,561) 1,819

Indefinite-Lived:
Trademark 887 — 887 887 — 887
Total acquired intangibles $ 4239 § (1,780) $ 2459 |$ 4267 $ (1,561) $ 2,706

Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized to expense primarily on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

Amortization expense for acquired finite-lived intangible assets was $248 million, $285 million and $271 million in 2022,
2021 and 2020. Estimated future amortization expense is as follows: $248 million in 2023; $244 million in 2024; $220 million
in 2025; $154 million in 2026; and $153 million in 2027.
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Note 8 — Leases

We generally enter into operating lease agreements for facilities, land and equipment. Our ROU operating lease assets were
$1.1 billion at December 31, 2022. Operating lease liabilities were $1.2 billion, of which $916 million were classified as
noncurrent, at December 31, 2022. New ROU operating lease assets and liabilities entered into during 2022 were $25 million.
The weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate for our operating leases were approximately 7.4 years and 2.4% at
December 31, 2022.

We recognized operating lease expense of $275 million in both 2022 and 2021 and $223 million in 2020. In addition, we
made cash payments of $269 million for operating leases during 2022, which are included in cash flows from operating
activities in our consolidated statement of cash flows.

Future minimum lease commitments at December 31, 2022 were as follows (in millions):

Total 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Thereafter
Operating leases $ 1,342 $ 327 $ 226 $ 178 $§ 131 § 101 $ 379
Less: imputed interest 125
Total $ 1,217

Note 9 — Income Taxes
Income Tax Provisions

Federal and foreign income tax expense for continuing operations consisted of the following (in millions):

2022 2021 2020

Federal income tax expense (benefit):

Current $ 1,618 § 1325 § 1,292
Deferred (776) (194) 21
Total federal income tax expense 842 1,131 1,313
Foreign income tax expense (benefit):
Current 87 93 50
Deferred 19 11 (16)
Total foreign income tax expense 106 104 34
Total federal and foreign income tax expense $ 948 § 1235 § 1347

Our total net state income tax expense was $124 million for 2022, $195 million for 2021, and $197 million for 2020. State
income taxes are allowable costs in establishing prices for the products and services we sell to the U.S. Government. Therefore,
state income tax expenses are included in our cost of sales, as general and administrative costs. As a result, the impact of certain
transactions on our operating profit and of other matters presented in these consolidated financial statements is disclosed net of

state income taxes.
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A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax expense to actual income tax expense for continuing operations is
as follows (in millions):
2022 2021 2020
Amount Rate Amount Rate Amount Rate
Income tax expense at the U.S. federal statutory tax rate  $§ 1,403 21.0% $ 1,585 210% $ 1,729 21.0 %

Research and development tax credit a78) @7 (118) (1.6) CH) 1.2)
Foreign derived intangible income deduction 176) (2.6) (170) 2.3 (170) 2.D
Tax deductible dividends (67) (1.0) (65) 0.9 (64) (0.8)
Excess tax benefits for stock-based payment awards “42) (0.6) (28) 0.4 (52) (0.6)
Other, net 8 0.1 31 0.6 1 0.1
Income tax expense $ 948 142 % $ 1235 164% $ 1,347 16.4 %

The rate for 2022 was lower than the rate for 2021 primarily due to increased research and development tax credits. The
rate for all years benefited from tax deductions for foreign derived intangible income, dividends paid to our defined
contribution plans with an employee stock ownership plan feature, and employee equity awards.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The change in unrecognized tax benefits were as follows (in millions):

2022 2021 2020
Balance at January 1 $ 69 $ 50 $ 56
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 1,572 23 14
Additions for tax positions of prior years 5 30 1
Reductions for tax positions of prior years 2 (19) (20)
Settlements with tax authorities (23) (14) —
Other, net 1 @h) €))
Balance at December 31 $ 1,622 § 69 $ 50

As of December 31, 2021, our liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions were not material. For the year ended
December 31, 2022, our liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions increased to $1.6 billion with a corresponding
increase to net deferred tax assets primarily resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017’s elimination of the option for
taxpayers to deduct research and development expenditures immediately in the year incurred and instead requiring taxpayers to
amortize such expenditures over five years. It is reasonably possible that within the next twelve months, our liabilities
associated with uncertain tax positions may increase by approximately $1.3 billion related to this provision.

This uncertain tax position will have an immaterial impact to our effective tax rate if recognized.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as part of our income tax expense. As of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, our accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits were not material.
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Deferred Income Taxes

The primary components of our federal and foreign deferred income tax assets and liabilities at December 31 were as

follows (in millions):

2022 2021
Deferred tax assets related to:
Pensions 1,340 § 1,985
Accrued compensation and benefits 718 957
Contract accounting methods 510 470
Research and development expenditures 2,268 —
Foreign company operating losses and credits 20 40
Other @ 471 473
Valuation allowance 31) (15)
Deferred tax assets, net 5,296 3910
Deferred tax liabilities related to:
Goodwill and intangible assets 449 401
Property, plant and equipment 503 518
Exchanged debt securities and other ©® 605 709
Deferred tax liabilities 1,557 1,628
Net deferred tax assets 3,739 § 2282

@ Includes deferred tax assets and liabilities related to lease liability and ROU asset.

We and our subsidiaries file federal income tax returns in the U.S. and income tax returns in various foreign jurisdictions.
With few exceptions, the statute of limitations for these jurisdictions is no longer open for audit or examination for the years
before 2015 with respect to various foreign jurisdictions and before 2018 for federal income taxes in the U.S.

We withdrew from the IRS Compliance Assurance Process (CAP) program in 2022 starting with our 2021 tax return.
Examinations of the years 2018 to 2020 remain under IRS review under the CAP program. We are also subject to taxation in
various states and foreign jurisdictions including Australia, Canada, India, Italy, Japan, Poland, and the United Kingdom. We

are under, or may be subject to, audit or examination and additional assessments by the relevant authorities.

Our federal and foreign income tax payments, net of refunds, were $1.6 billion in 2022 and $1.4 billion in 2021 and 2020.
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Note 10 — Debt

Our total debt consisted of the following (in millions):

2022 2021
Notes
3.10% due 2023 $ — 3 500
2.90% due 2025 — 750
4.95% due 2025 500 —
3.55% due 2026 1,000 2,000
5.10% due 2027 750 —
1.85% due 2030 400 400
3.90% due 2032 800 —
5.25% due 2033 1,000 —
3.60% due 2035 500 500
4.50% and 6.15% due 2036 1,054 1,054
4.07% due 2042 1,336 1,336
3.80% due 2045 1,000 1,000
4.70% due 2046 1,326 1,326
2.80% due 2050 750 750
4.09% due 2052 1,578 1,578
4.15% due 2053 850 —
5.70% due 2054 1,000 —
4.30% due 2062 650 —
5.90% due 2063 750 —
Other notes with rates from 4.85% to 8.5%, due 2023 to 2029 1,598 1,605
Total debt 16,842 12,799
Less: unamortized discounts and issuance costs (1,295) (1,123)
Total debt, net 15,547 11,676
Less: current portion (118) (6)
Long-term debt, net $ 15429 §$ 11,670

Revolving Credit Facility

On August 24, 2022, we entered into a new Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Revolving Credit Agreement”) with
various banks. The Revolving Credit Agreement consists of a $3.0 billion five-year unsecured revolving credit facility, with the
option to increase the commitments under the credit facility by an additional amount of up to $500 million (for an aggregate
amount of up to $3.5 billion), subject to the agreement of one or more new or existing lenders to provide such additional
amounts and certain other customary conditions. The Revolving Credit Agreement matures on August 24, 2027. However, we
may request that commitments be renewed for additional one-year periods under certain circumstances as set forth in the
Revolving Credit Agreement. The Revolving Credit Agreement is available for any of our lawful corporate purposes, including
supporting commercial paper borrowings. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement are unsecured and bear interest at
rates set forth in the Revolving Credit Agreement. The Revolving Credit Agreement contains customary representations,
warranties and covenants, including covenants restricting ours and certain of our subsidiaries’ ability to encumber assets and
our ability to merge or consolidate with another entity. The Revolving Credit Agreement replaces our revolving credit
agreement (the “Former Credit Agreement”), which had been scheduled to mature on August 24, 2026. The Former Credit
Agreement, which had a total capacity of $3.0 billion and was undrawn, was terminated effective August 24, 2022. There were
no borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement or the Former Credit Agreement at December 31, 2022 and 2021. As of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, we were in compliance with all covenants contained in the Revolving Credit Agreement and
Former Credit Agreement, as well as in our debt agreements.

Commercial Paper

We have agreements in place with financial institutions to provide for the issuance of commercial paper. The outstanding
balance of commercial paper can fluctuate daily and the amount outstanding during the period may be greater or less than the
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plans. Our defined benefit pension plans for salaried employees were fully frozen effective January 1, 2020, at which time such
employees no longer earn additional benefits under the defined benefit pension plans and were transitioned to an enhanced
defined contribution retirement savings plan.

During the second quarter of 2022, we purchased group annuity contracts to transfer $4.3 billion of gross defined benefit
pension obligations and related plan assets to an insurance company for approximately 13,600 U.S. retirees and beneficiaries. In
connection with this transaction, we recognized a noncash, non-operating pension settlement charge of $1.5 billion
($1.2 billion, or $4.33 per share, after-tax) for the affected plans in the quarter ended June 26, 2022, which represents the
accelerated recognition of actuarial losses that were included in the accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) account
within stockholders’ equity. During the third quarter of 2021, we purchased group annuity contracts to transfer $4.9 billion of
gross defined benefit pension obligations and related plan assets to an insurance company for approximately 18,000 U.S.
retirees and beneficiaries, and in connection recognized a noncash pension settlement charge of $1.7 billion ($1.3 billion, or
$4.72 per share, after tax) in 2021. These group annuity contracts were purchased using assets from Lockheed Martin’s master
retirement trust and no additional funding contributions were required. These transactions had no impact on the amount, timing,
or form of the monthly retirement benefit payments to the affected retirces and beneficiaries; and as a result of these
transactions, we were relieved of all responsibility for the pension obligations and the insurance company is now required to
pay and administer the retirement benefits.

Qualified Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Retiree Medical and Life Insurance Plans
FAS (Expense) Income

The pretax FAS (expense) income related to our qualified defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical and life
insurance plans included the following (in millions):

Qualified Defined Retiree Medical and
Benefit Pension Plans Life Insurance Plans
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
Operating;
Service cost $ @7 $ (106) $ (10D $ 9 $ (13) $ (13)
Non-operating:
Interest cost (1,289) (1,220) (1,538) (49) (53) (70)
Expected return on plan assets 1,854 2,146 2,264 136 141 127
Recognized net actuarial (losses) gains (425) (902) (849) 46 — 4
Amortization of prior service credits (costs) 359 349 342 27 37 (39
Settlement charge (1,470) (1,665) — — — —
Non-service FAS (expense) income 971) (1,292) 219 106 51 22
Total FAS (expense) income $ (1,058) $ (1,398) § 118 $ 97 $ 38 % 9

We record the service cost component of FAS (expense) income for our qualified defined benefit plans and retiree medical
and life insurance plans in the cost of sales accounts; the non-service components of our FAS (expense) income for our
qualified defined benefit pension plans in the non-service FAS pension (expense) income account; and the non-service
components of our FAS income for our retiree medical and life insurance plans as part of the other non-operating (expense)
income, net account on our consolidated statements of earnings.
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Funded Status

The following table provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and net (unfunded) funded status of our

qualified defined benefit pension plans and our retiree medical and life insurance plans (in millions):

Qualified Defined Retiree Medical and
Benefit Pension Plans Life Insurance Plans
2022 2021 2022 2021
Change in benefit obligation
Beginning balance © $ 43,447 $ 51,352 $ 1,839 $ 2271
Service cost 87 106 9 13
Interest cost 1,289 1,220 49 53
Actuarial (gains) losses ® (10,270) (2,045) (396) (352)
Settlements © 4,309) (4,885) — —
Plan amendments 186 2 1 —
Benefits paid (1,732) (2,303) (207) (217)
Medicare Part D subsidy — — 3 4
Participants’ contributions — — 61 67
Ending balance ® $ 28,698 $ 43447 $ 1,359 $ 1,839
Change in plan assets
Beginning balance at fair value $ 35192 $ 38481 $ 2,169 $ 2085
Actual return on plan assets @ (5,923) 3,899 (381) 224
Settlements © (4,309) (4,885) — —
Benefits paid (1,732) (2,303) (207) (217)
Company contributions — — 11 6
Medicare Part D subsidy — — 3 4
Participants’ contributions — — 61 67
Ending balance at fair value $ 23,228 $ 35,192 $ 1,656 $ 2169
(Unfunded) funded status of the plans $ 5,470) § (8,255) $ 297 § 330

(a)

®)

©

@

Benefit obligation balances represent the projected benefit obligation for our qualified defined benefit pension plans and the accumulated
benefit obligation for our retiree medical and life insurance plans.

Actuarial gains for our qualified defined benefit pension plans in 2022 primarily reflect an increase in the discount rate from 2.875% at
December 31, 2021 to 5.25% at December 31, 2022, which decreased benefit obligations by $10.2 billion. Actuarial gains for our retiree
medical and life insurance plans in 2022 reflect an increase in the discount rate from 2.750% at December 31, 2021 to 5.25% at
December 31, 2022, which decreased benefit obligations by $335 million. Actuarial gains for our qualified defined benefit pension plans
in 2021 primarily reflect an increase in the discount rate from 2.50% at December 31, 2020 to 2.875% at December 31, 2021, which
decreased benefit obligations by $2.3 billion, partially offset by an increase of approximately $250 million due to changes in longevity
assumptions and participant data. Actuarial gains for our retiree medical and life insurance plans in 2021 reflect an increase in the
discount rate from 2.375% at December 31, 2020 to 2.75% at December 31, 2021, which decreased benefit obligations by $70 million,
and $282 million due to changes in plan participation assumptions and claims data.

Qualified defined benefit pension plan settlements in 2022 and 2021 represent the transfer of gross defined benefit pension obligations
and related plan assets to insurance companies pursuant to group annuity contracts purchased in the second quarter of 2022 and third
quarter of 2021 as described above.

Actual return on plan assets for our qualified defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical and life insurance plans was
approximately (18)% in 2022 and 10.5% in 2021.

We are required to recognize the net funded status of each postretirement benefit plan on a standalone basis as either an

asset or a liability on our consolidated balance sheet. The funded status is measured as the difference between the fair value of
each plan’s assets and the benefit obligation. Each year we measure the fair value of each plan’s assets and benefit obligation on
December 31, consistent with our fiscal year end. The fair value of each plan’s benefit obligation reflects assumptions in effect
as of the measurement date as described below. For certain of our qualified defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical
and life insurance plans the plan assets may exceed the benefit obligation, for which we recognize the net amount as an asset on
our consolidated balance sheet. Conversely, for most of our qualified defined benefit pension plans the benefit obligation
exceeds plan assets, for which we recognize the net amount as a liability on our consolidated balance sheet.
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The following table provides amounts recognized on our consolidated balance sheets related to our qualified defined

benefit pension plans and our retiree medical and life insurance plans (in millions):

Qualified Defined Retiree Medical and

Benefit Pension Plans Life Insurance Plans
2022 2021 2022 2021

Other noncurrent assets $ 2§ 64 $ 297 330
Accrued pension liabilities (5,472) (8,319) — —
Net (unfunded) funded status of the plans $ (5470) § (8,255) $ 297 330

The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) for all qualified defined benefit pension plans was $28.6 billion and
$43 4 billion at December 31, 2022 and 2021. The ABO represents benefits accrued without assuming future compensation
increases to plan participants and is approximately equal to our projected benefit obligation. Plans where the benefit obligation
was less than plan assets represent prepaid pension assets, which are included on our consolidated balance sheets in other
noncurrent assets. Plans where the obligation was in excess of plan assets represent accrued pension liabilities, which are
included on our consolidated balance sheets.

Differences between the actual return and expected return on plan assets during the year and changes in the benefit
obligation for our qualified defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical and life insurance plans due to changes in the
annual valuation assumptions generate actuarial gains or losses. Additionally, the benefit obligation for our qualified defined
benefit pension plans and retiree medical and life insurance plans may increase or decrease as a result of plan amendments that
affect the benefits to plan participants related to service for periods prior to the effective date of the amendment, which
generates prior service costs or credits. Actuarial gains or losses, and prior service costs or credits, are initially deferred in
accumulated other comprehensive loss and subsequently amortized for each plan into (expense) or income on a straight-line
basis either over the average remaining life expectancy of plan participants or over the average remaining service period of plan
participants, subject to certain thresholds.

The following table provides the amount of actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs or credits recognized in
accumulated other comprehensive loss related to qualified defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical and life insurance
plans at December 31 (in millions):

Qualified Defined Retiree Medical and

Benefit Pension Plans Life Insurance Plans

2022 2021 2022 2021

Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) pre-tax related to:

Net actuarial (losses) $(10,287) $(14,675) $ 387 554
Prior service credit (cost) 339 884 (10) (36)
Total $ (9,948 $(13,791) $ 377 518
Estimated tax 2,117 2,947 (79) (110)
Net amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) $ (7,831) $(10,844) $ 298 408
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The following table provides the changes recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, for actuarial
gains or losses and prior service costs or credits due to differences between the actual return and expected return on plan assets
and changes in the fair value of the benefit obligation recognized in connection with our annual remeasurement and the
amortization during the year for our qualified defined benefit pension plans, retiree medical and life insurance plans, and certain
other plans (in millions):

Incurred but Not Yet Recognition of
Recognized in Previously
FAS Expense Deferred Amounts
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
Actuarial gains and (losses)
Qualified defined benefit pension plans $ 1,952 § 2987 $ (1,005 $ (1,490) § (2,019) $ (668)
Retiree medical and life insurance plans 95) 342 43 36 — 3
Other plans 165 76 (104) 39) 24 249
2,022 3,405 (1,066) (1,493) (2,043) (689)
Net prior service credit and (cost)
Qualified defined benefit pension plans (146) 8 @) 283 274 269
Retiree medical and life insurance plans 1) — 6 (22) 29 (30
Other plans 2) — — 7 11 10
(149) (1) @) 268 256 249
Total $ 1873 § 3404 $ (1,067) $ (1,225) $ (1,787) $  (440)

Assumptions Used to Determine Benefit Obligations and FAS (Expense) Income

We measure the fair value of each plan’s assets and benefit obligation on December 31, consistent with our fiscal year end.
Benefit obligations as of the end of each year reflect assumptions in effect as of those dates. Expense is based on assumptions in
effect at the end of the preceding year or from the most recent interim remeasurement. The assumptions used to determine the
benefit obligations at December 31 of each year and FAS expense for each subsequent year were as follows:

Qualified Defined Benefit Retiree Medical and

Pension Plans Life Insurance Plans
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
Weighted average discount rate 5250 % 2875% 2500 % 5250 % 2750% 2375%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets @ 6.50 % 6.50 % 7.00 % 6.50 % 6.50 % 7.00 %
Health care trend rate assumed for next year 7.25 % 7.50 % 7.75 %
Ultimate health care trend rate 4,50 % 4.50 % 4.50 %
Year ultimate health care trend rate is reached 2034 2034 2034

(a) A pension discount rate of 4.75%, and 2.75%, was used for the applicable plans following the transaction and remeasurement recognized
in the second quarter of 2022, and third quarter of 2021, respectively. We lowered our expected long-term rate of return on plan assets
from 7.00% to 6.50% in connection with the third quarter of 2021 remeasurement, applicable to all qualified defined benefit pension and
retiree medical and life insurance plans as of the December 31, 2021 remeasurement.

The long-term rate of return assumption represents the expected long-term rate of earnings on the funds invested, or to be
invested, to provide for the benefits included in the benefit obligations. That assumption is based on several factors including
historical market index returns, the anticipated long-term allocation of plan assets, the historical return data for the trust funds,
plan expenses and the potential to outperform market index returns. The actual investment losses for our qualified defined
benefit plans during 2022 of $(5.9) billion based on an actual rate of return of approximately (18)% reduced plan assets more
than the $1.9 billion expected return based on our long-term rate of return assumption.
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Plan Assets

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, Lockheed Martin Investment Management Company (LMIMCo), has the fiduciary
responsibility for making investment decisions related to the assets of our postretirement benefit plans. LMIMCo’s investment
objectives for the assets of these plans are (1) to minimize the net present value of expected funding contributions; (2) to ensure
there is a high probability that each plan meets or exceeds our actuarial long-term rate of return assumptions; and (3) to
diversify assets to minimize the risk of large losses. The nature and duration of benefit obligations, along with assumptions
concerning asset class returns and return correlations, are considered when determining an appropriate asset allocation to
achieve the investment objectives. Investment policies and strategies governing the assets of the plans are designed to achieve
investment objectives within prudent risk parameters. Risk management practices include the use of external investment
managers; the maintenance of a portfolio diversified by asset class, investment approach and security holdings; and the
maintenance of sufficient liquidity to meet benefit obligations as they come due.

LMIMCo’s investment policies require that asset allocations of postretirement benefit plans be maintained within the
following approximate ranges:

Asset Allocation
Asset Class Ranges
Cash and cash equivalents 0-20%
Global Equity 15-65%
Fixed income 10-60%
Alternative investments:
Private equity funds 5-25%
Real estate funds 5-15%
Hedge funds 0-20%
Commodities 0-10%
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The following table presents the fair value of the assets of our qualified defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical
and life insurance plans by asset category and their level within the fair value hierarchy (see “Note 1 — Organization and
Significant Accounting Policies - Investments™ for definition of these levels), which we are required to disclose even though
these assets are not separately recorded on our consolidated balance sheet. Certain investments are measured at their Net Asset
Value (NAV) per share because such investments do not have readily determinable fair values and, therefore, are not required
to be categorized in the fair value hierarchy. Assets measured at NAV have been included in the table below to permit
reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to amounts presented in the funded status table above.

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
(in millions) Total Levell Level2 Level3 Total Levell Level2 Level3
Investments measured at fair value
Cash and cash equivalents @ $ 1,952 $ 1,952 § — $ —|$ 991 $ 991 $ — % —
Equity @:
U.S. equity securities 3,162 3,060 6 96 6,479 6,444 5 30
International equity securities 2,298 2,245 17 36 4,882 4,880 — 2
Commingled equity funds 459 183 276 — 869 36 833 —
Fixed income :
Corporate debt securities 4,491 — 4,272 219 6,397 — 6,295 102
U.S. Government securities 2,219 — 2,219 — 2,864 — 2,864 —
U.S. Government-sponsored
enterprise securities 572 — 572 — 228 — 228 —
Interest rate swaps, net (1,165) — (1,165) — 636 — 636 —
Other fixed income investments © 1,980 81 680 1,219 4,100 49 2,435 1,616
Total $15968 $ 7,521 § 6,877 § 1,570 | $27,446 $12400 $13,296 $ 1,750
Investments measured at NAV
Commingled equity funds — 130
Other fixed income investments 730 701
Private equity funds 4,703 5,386
Real estate funds 3,383 3,059
Hedge funds 689 556
Total investments measured at NAV 9,505 9,832
Loan, net © (497) —
(Payables) Receivables, net 92) 83
Total $ 24,884 $ 37,361

@ Cash and cash equivalents, equity securities and fixed income securities included derivative assets and liabilities with fair values that
were not material as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. LMIMCo’s investment policies restrict the use of derivatives to either establish
long or short exposures for purposes consistent with applicable investment mandate guidelines or to hedge risks to the extent of a plan’s
current exposure to such risks. Most derivative transactions are settled on a daily basis.

®  Tevel 3 investments include $1.1 billion at December 31, 2022 and $1.5 billion at December 31, 2021 related to buy-in contracts.

©  The Lockheed Martin Corporation Master Retirement Trust (MRT) obtained a loan from a third party financial institution, collateralized
by private equity investments, to invest in fixed income securities.

Changes in the fair value of plan assets categorized as Level 3 during 2022 and 2021 were not significant.

Cash equivalents are mostly comprised of short-term money-market instruments and are valued at cost, which
approximates fair value.

U.S. equity securitics and international equity securities categorized as Level 1 are traded on active national and
international exchanges and are valued at their closing prices on the last trading day of the year. For U.S. equity securities and
international equity securities not traded on an active exchange, or if the closing price is not available, the trustee obtains
indicative quotes from a pricing vendor, broker or investment manager. These securities are categorized as Level 2 if the
custodian obtains corroborated quotes from a pricing vendor or categorized as Level 3 if the custodian obtains uncorroborated
quotes from a broker or investment manager.
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Commingled equity funds categorized as Level 1 are traded on active national and international exchanges and are valued
at their closing prices on the last trading day of the year. For commingled equity funds not traded on an active exchange, or if
the closing price is not available, the trustee obtains indicative quotes from a pricing vendor, broker or investment manager.
These securities are categorized as Level 2 if the custodian obtains corroborated quotes from a pricing vendor.

Fixed income investments categorized as Level 1 are publicly exchange-traded. Fixed income investments, including
interest rate swaps, categorized as Level 2 are valued by the trustee using pricing models that use verifiable observable market
data (e.g., interest rates and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals and credit spreads), bids provided by brokers
or dealers or quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics. Fixed income investments are categorized as Level 3 when
valuations using observable inputs are unavailable. The trustee typically obtains pricing based on indicative quotes or bid
evaluations from vendors, brokers or the investment manager. In addition, certain other fixed income investments categorized
as Level 3 are valued using a discounted cash flow approach. Significant inputs include projected annuity payments and the
discount rate applied to those payments.

Certain commingled equity and fixed income funds, consisting of underlying equity and fixed income securities,
respectively, are valued using the NAV practical expedient. The NAV valuations are based on the underlying investments and
typically redeemable within 90 days. The NAV is the total value of the fund divided by the number of the fund’s shares
outstanding.

Private equity funds consist of partnerships and similar vehicles. The NAV is based on valuation models of the underlying

securities, which includes unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated using verifiable observable market data. These funds
typically have terms between eight and 12 years.

Real estate funds consist of partnerships and similar vehicles, for which the NAV is based on valuation models and
periodic appraisals. These funds typically have redemption periods between eight and 10 years.

Hedge funds consist of separate accounts and commingled funds, for which the NAV is generally based on the valuation of
the underlying investments. Redemptions in hedge funds generally range from a minimum of one month to several months.

Contributions and Expected Benefit Payments

The required funding of our qualified defined benefit pension plans is determined in accordance with ERISA, as amended,
and in a manner consistent with CAS and Internal Revenue Code rules. We made no contributions to our qualified defined
benefit pension plans in 2022 and do not plan to make contributions to our qualified defined benefit pension plans in 2023.

The following table presents estimated future benefit payments as of December 31, 2022 (in millions):

2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 -2032
Qualified defined benefit pension plans $ 1720 $ 1810 $ 1,890 $ 1950 $ 2000 $ 10,150
Retiree medical and life insurance plans 140 130 130 120 120 530

We maintain various trusts to fund the obligations of our qualified defined benefit pension plans and retiree medical and
life insurance plans. We expect the estimated future benefit payments will be paid using assets in the trusts established for the
plans.

Nongqualified Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Other Postemployment Plans

We sponsor nonqualified defined benefit pension plans to provide benefits in excess of qualified plan limits imposed by
federal tax law. The gross benefit obligation for these plans was $1.0 billion and $1.3 billion as of December 31, 2022 and
2021, most of which was recorded in the other noncurrent liabilities account on our consolidated balance sheet. We have set
aside certain assets totaling $595 million and $872 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 in a separate trust that we expect
to use to pay the benefit obligations under our nonqualified defined benefit pension plans, most of which were recorded in the
other noncurrent assets account on our consolidated balance sheet. We record the gross assets on our consolidated balance
sheet, rather than netting such assets with the benefit obligation for our nonqualified defined benefit pension plans, because the
assets held are diversified and legally the assets may be used to settle other obligations or claims (although that is not our
intent). Actuarial losses and unrecognized prior service credits related to our nonqualified defined benefit pension plans that
were recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss, pretax, totaled $331 million and $625 million at December 31, 2022
and 2021. We recognized pretax pension expense of $81 million in 2022, $56 million in 2021 and $59 million in 2020 related to
our nonqualified defined benefit pension plans. The assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations and FAS expense for
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Changes in the balance of AOCL, net of taxes, consisted of the following (in millions):

Postretirement
Benefit Plans ® Other, net AOCL
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ (15,528) $ (26) $ (15,554)
Other comprehensive (loss) income before reclassifications (1,067) 56 (1,011
Amounts reclassified from AOCL
Recognition of net actuarial losses 689 — 689
Amortization of net prior service credits (249) — (249)
Other — 4 4
Total reclassified from AOCL 440 4 444
Total other comprehensive (loss) income (627) 60 (567)
Balance at December 31, 2020 (16,155) 34 (16,121)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 3,404 (85) 3,319
Amounts reclassified from AOCL
Pension settlement charge ® 1,310 1,310
Recognition of net actuarial losses 733 — 733
Amortization of net prior service credits (256) — (256)
Other — 9 9
Total reclassified from AOCL 1,787 9 1,796
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 5,191 (76) 5,115
Balance at December 31, 2021 (10,964) (42) (11,006)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 1,873 (159) 1,714
Amounts reclassified from AOCL
Pension settlement charge ® 1,156 — 1,156
Recognition of net actuarial losses 337 — 337
Amortization of net prior service credits (268) — (268)
Other — 44 44
Total reclassified from AOCL 1,225 44 1,269
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 3,098 (115) 2,983
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ (7,866) $ (157) $ (8,023)

@ AOCL related to postretirement benefit plans is shown net of tax benefits of $2.1 billion at December 31, 2022, $3.0 billion at December
31, 2021 and $4.4 billion at December 31, 2020. These tax benefits include amounts recognized on our income tax returns as current
deductions and deferred income taxes, which will be recognized on our tax returns in future years. See “Note 9 — Income Taxes” and
“Note 11 — Postretirement Benefit Plans” for more information on our income taxes and postretirement benefit plans.

()

During 2022 and 2021, we recognized a noncash, non-operating pension settlement charge of $1.5 billion ($1.2 billion, or $4.33 per

share, after-tax) and $1.7 billion ($1.3 billion, $4.72 per share, after-tax) related to the accelerated recognition of actuarial losses
included in AOCL for certain defined benefit pension plans that purchased a group annuity contract from an insurance company (see

“Note 11 — Postretirement Benefit Plans™).
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Note 13 — Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Under plans approved by our stockholders, we are authorized to grant key employees stock-based incentive awards,
including options to purchase common stock, stock appreciation rights, RSUs, PSUs or other stock units.

At December 31, 2022, inclusive of the shares reserved for outstanding RSUs and PSUs, we had approximately 9.1 million
shares reserved for issuance under the plans. At December 31, 2022, approximately 6.8 million of the shares reserved for
issuance remained available for grant under our stock-based compensation plans. We issue new shares upon the exercise of
stock options or when restrictions on RSUs and PSUs have been satisfied. The exercise price of options to purchase common
stock may not be less than the fair market value of our stock on the date of grant. The minimum vesting period for restricted
stock or stock units payable in stock is generally three years. Award agreements may provide for shorter or pro-rated vesting
periods or vesting following termination of employment in the case of death, disability, divestiture, retirement, change of
control or layoff. The maximum term of a stock option or any other award is 10 years.

During 2022, 2021 and 2020, we recorded noncash stock-based compensation expense totaling $238 million, $227 million
and $221 million, which is included as a component of other unallocated, net on our consolidated statements of earnings. The
net impact to earnings for the respective years was $188 million, $179 million and $175 million.

As of December 31, 2022, we had $181 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested awards, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.7 years. We received cash from the exercise of stock options
totaling $8 million, $28 million and $41 million during 2022, 2021 and 2020. In addition, our income tax liabilities for 2022,
2021 and 2020 were reduced by $124 million, $67 million and $63 million due to recognized tax benefits on stock-based
compensation arrangements.

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes activity related to nonvested RSUs:

Number Weighted Average
of RSUs Grant-Date Fair
(In thousands) Value Per Share
Nonvested at December 31, 2021 810 $ 34537
Granted 562 388.82
Vested 461) 347.37
Forfeited 34) 371.01
Nonvested at December 31, 2022 877 $ 371.17

In 2022, we granted certain employees approximately 0.6 million RSUs with a weighted average grant-date fair value of
$388.82 per RSU. The grant-date fair value of these RSUs is equal to the closing market price of our common stock on the
grant date less a discount to reflect the delay in payment of dividend-equivalent cash payments that are made only upon vesting,
which occurs at least one year from the grant date and most often occurs three years from the grant date.

Performance Stock Units

In 2022, we granted certain employees PSUs with an aggregate target award of approximately 0.1 million shares of our
common stock. The PSUs generally vest three years from the grant date based on continuous service, with the number of shares
ecamed (0% to 200% of the target award) depending upon the extent to which we achieve certain financial and market
performance targets measured over the period from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2024. About half of the PSUs were
valued at a weighted average grant-date fair value of $388.07 per PSU in a manner similar to RSUs mentioned above as the
financial targets are based on our operating results. The remaining PSUs were valued at a weighted-average grant-date fair
value of $537.32 per PSU using a Monte Carlo model as the performance target is related to our total shareholder return relative
to our peer group. We recognize the grant-date fair value of these awards, less estimated forfeitures, as compensation expense
ratably over the vesting period.

Note 14 — Legal Proceedings, Commitments and Contingencies

We are a party to litigation and other proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business, including matters arising
under provisions relating to the protection of the environment, and are subject to contingencies related to certain businesses we
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Agency (EPA) is considering whether to regulate hexavalent chromium at the federal level and the California State Water
Resources Control Board continues to reevaluate its existing drinking water standard of 6 ppb for perchlorate.

If substantially lower standards are adopted for perchlorate in California or for hexavalent chromium at the federal level,
we expect a material increase in our estimates for environmental liabilities and the related assets for the portion of the increased
costs that are probable of future recovery in the pricing of our products and services for the U.S. Government. The amount that
would be allocable to our non-U.S. Government contracts or that is determined not to be recoverable under U.S. Government
contracts would be expensed, which may have a material effect on our earnings in any particular interim reporting period.

We also are evaluating the potential impact of existing and contemplated legal requirements addressing a class of
chemicals known generally as per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS). PFAS have been used ubiquitously, such as in fire-
fighting foams, manufacturing processes, and stain- and stick-resistant products (e.g., Teflon, stain-resistant fabrics). Because
we have used products and processes over the years containing some of those compounds, they likely exist as contaminants at
many of our environmental remediation sites. Governmental authorities have announced plans, and in some instances have
begun, to regulate certain of these compounds at extremely low concentrations in drinking water, which could lead to increased
cleanup costs at many of our environmental remediation sites.

Letters of Credit, Surety Bonds and Third-Party Guarantees

We have entered into standby letters of credit and surety bonds issued on our behalf by financial institutions, and we have
directly issued guarantees to third parties primarily relating to advances received from customers and the guarantee of future
performance on certain contracts. Letters of credit and surety bonds generally are available for draw down in the event we do
not perform. In some cases, we may guarantee the contractual performance of third parties such as joint venture partners. We
had total outstanding letters of credit, surety bonds and third-party guarantees aggregating $3.8 billion and $3.6 billion at
December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. Third-party guarantees do not include guarantees issued on behalf of subsidiaries
and other consolidated entities.

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, third-party guarantees totaled $904 million and $838 million, of which approximately
71% and 69% related to guarantees of contractual performance of joint ventures to which we currently are or previously were a
party. These amounts represent our estimate of the maximum amounts we would expect to incur upon the contractual non-
performance of the joint venture, joint venture partners or divested businesses. Generally, we also have cross-indemnities in
place that may enable us to recover amounts that may be paid on behalf of a joint venture partner.

In determining our exposures, we evaluate the reputation, performance on contractual obligations, technical capabilities
and credit quality of our current and former joint venture partners and the transferee under novation agreements all of which
include a guarantee as required by the FAR. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no material amounts recorded in our
financial statements related to third-party guarantees or novation agreements.

Note 15 — Fair Value Measurements

Assets and liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following (in millions):

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets

Mutual funds $ 897 § 897 § — 3 — $ 1434 $ 1434 § — 3 —

U.S. Government securities 118 — 118 — 121 — 121 —

Other securities 660 333 264 63 684 492 192 —

Derivatives 18 — 18 — 15 — 15 —
Liabilities

Derivatives 196 — 196 — 60 — 60 —
Assets measured at NAV

Other commingled funds — 20

Substantially all assets measured at fair value, other than derivatives, represent investments held in a separate trust to
fund certain of our non-qualified deferred compensation plan liabilities. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the fair value of
our investments held in trust totaled $1.6 billion and $2.1 billion and was included in other noncurrent assets on our
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ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by Item 12 related to the security ownership of management and certain beneficial owners is
included under the heading “Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners” in the 2023 Proxy Statement,
and that information is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information about our equity compensation plans that authorize the issuance of shares of
Lockheed Martin common stock to employees and directors. The information is provided as of December 31, 2022.

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities to Weighted-average future issuance under
be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan category (@ (b) (©)
Equity compensaltion plans approved by
security holders 2,297,380 $ — 6,761,032
Equity pompensati((z)n plans not approved by
security holders 545,753 — 2,486,789
Total 2,843,133 $ — 9,247,821

M Column (a) includes, as of December 31, 2022: 1,587,329 shares that have been granted as restricted stock units (RSUs) and 624,106
shares that could be earned pursuant to grants of performance stock units (PSUSs) (assuming the maximum number of PSUs are earned
and payable at the end of the three-year performance period) under the Lockheed Martin Corporation 2020 Incentive Performance Award
Plan (2020 IPA Plan) or predecessor plans and 85,945 stock units payable in stock or cash under the Lockheed Martin Corporation
Amended and Restated Directors Equity Plan (Directors Plan) or predecessor plans for non-employee directors. Column (c) includes, as
of December 31, 2022, 6,391,651 shares available for future issuance under the 2020 [PA Plan as options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock awards, RSUs or PSUs and 369,381 shares available for future issuance under the Directors Plan as stock options and
stock units. Vested stock units are payable to directors upon their termination of service from our Board, except that directors who have
satisfied the stock ownership guidelines may elect to have payment of awards made after January 1, 2018 (together with any dividend
equivalents thereon) made on the first business day of April following the one-year anniversary of the grant.

@ The shares represent annual incentive bonuses and Long-Term Incentive Performance (I.TIP) payments earned and voluntarily deferred

by employees. The deferred amounts are payable under the Deferred Management Incentive Compensation Plan (DMICP). Deferred

amounts are credited as phantom stock units at the closing price of our stock on the date the deferral is effective. Amounts equal to our
dividend are credited as stock units at the time we pay a dividend. Following termination of employment, a number of shares of stock
equal to the number of stock units credited to the employee’s DMICP account are distributed to the employee. There is no discount or
value transfer on the stock distributed. Distributions may be made from newly issued shares or shares purchased on the open market.

Historically, all distributions have come from shares held in a separate trust and, therefore, do not further dilute our common shares

outstanding. Because the DMICP shares are outstanding, they should be included in the denominator (and not the numerator) of a

dilution calculation.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Item 404 and 407(a) of Regulation S-K is included under the captions “Corporate Governance
- Related Person Transaction Policy,” “Corporate Governance - Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions of
Directors, Executive Officers and 5 Percent Stockholders,” and “Corporate Governance - Director Independence” in the 2023
Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item 14 is included under the caption “Proposal 4 - Ratification of Appointment of
Independent Auditors” in the 2023 Proxy Statement, and that information is incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
List of financial statements filed as part of this Form 10-K

The following financial statements of Lockheed Martin Corporation and consolidated subsidiaries are included in Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K (Form 10-K) at the page numbers referenced below:

Page
Consolidated Statements of Earnings — Years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 63
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income — Years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 64
Consolidated Balance Sheets — At December 31, 2022 and 2021 65
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows — Years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 66
Consolidated Statements of Equity — Years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 67
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 68

The report of Lockheed Martin Corporation’s independent registered public accounting firm (PCAOB ID:42) with respect
to the above-referenced financial statements and their report on internal control over financial reporting are included in Item 8
and Item 9A of this Form 10-K at the page numbers referenced below. Their consent appears as Exhibit 23 of this Form 10-K.

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements 60
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Regarding Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 104

List of financial statement schedules filed as part of this Form 10-K

All schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information has been otherwise
supplied in the consolidated financial statements or notes to consolidated financial statements.

Exhibits

3.1 Charter of Lockheed Martin Corporation, as amended by Articles of Amendment dated April 23, 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Lockheed Martin Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2010).

3.2 Bylaws of Lockheed Martin Corporation, as amended and restated effective April 8, 2020 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Lockheed Martin Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
April 9, 2020).

4.1 Description of Lockheed Martin Corporation Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Lockheed Martin Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021).

4.2 Indenture, dated May 15, 1996, among Lockheed Martin Corporation, Lockheed Martin Tactical Systems, Inc.
and First Trust of Illinois, National Association as Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Lockheed
Martin Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017).

43 Indenture, dated as of August 30, 2006, between Lockheed Martin Corporation and The Bank of New York
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Lockheed Martin Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on August 31, 2006).

44 Indenture, dated as of March 11, 2008, between Lockheed Martin Corporation and The Bank of New York
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Lockheed Martin Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on March 12, 2008).

4.5 Indenture, dated as of May 25, 2010, between Lockheed Martin Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Lockheed Martin Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on May 25, 2010).

4.6 Indenture, dated as of September 6, 2011, between Lockheed Martin Corporation and U.S. Bank National
Association (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Lockheed Martin Corporation’s Registration Statement
on Form S-3 filed with the SEC on April 24, 2020).

4.7 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 21, 2022, between Lockheed Martin Corporation and U.S. Bank Trust

Company, National Association, to the Indenture dated September 6, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to Lockheed Martin Corporation’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 21, 2022).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Lockheed Martin Corporation
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Date: January 26, 2023 By: /s/ H. Edward Paul 111
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF JAMES D. TAICLET PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James D. Taiclet, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lockheed Martin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b} Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize, and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ James D. Taiclet
James D. Taiclet
Chief Executive Officer

Date: January 26, 2023



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF JESUS MALAVE PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jesus Malave, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Lockheed Martin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared,;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize, and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s! Jesus Malave
Jesus Malave
Chief Financial Officer

Date: January 26, 2023



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF JAMES D. TAICLET AND JESUS MALAVE PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Lockheed Martin Corporation (the “Corporation”) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”), I, James D. Taiclet, Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, and |, Jesus Malave, Chief Financial
Officer of the Corporation, each certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition
and results of operations of the Corporation.

/s/ James D. Taiclet
James D. Taiclet
Chief Executive Officer

/s! Jesus Malave
Jesus Malave
Chief Financial Officer

Date: January 26, 2023



NON-GAAP DEFINITIONS AND RECONCILIATION OF NON-GAAP MEASURES TO GAAP
MEASURES

This annual report contains non-generally accepted accounting principles (non-GAAP) financial measures. While we
believe that these non-GAAP financial measures may be useful in evaluating the financial performance of Lockheed
Martin, this information should be considered supplemental and is not a substitute for financial information prepared in
accordance with GAAP. In addition, our definitions for non-GAAP measures may differ from similarly titled measures used
by other companies or analysts.

Segment operating profit / margin

Segment Operating Profit represents operating profit from our business segments before unallocated income and
expense. This measure is used by our senior management in evaluating the performance of our business segments and
is a performance goal in our annual incentive plan. The caption “Total Unallocated Items” reconciles Segment Operating
Profit to Consolidated Operating Profit. Segment Margin is calculated by dividing Segment Operating Profit by Net Sales.

In millions 2022 2021 2020
Net sales $ 65984 $§ 67,044 $ 65,398
Consolidated operating profit $ 8348 § 9123 $§ 8,644
Less: Total unallocated items 1,129 1,744 1,492
Business segment operating profit (Non-GAAP) $ 7219 $ 7379 $§ 7,152
Consolidated operating margin 12.7% 13.6% 13.2%
Segment operating margin (Non-GAAP) 10.9% 11.0% 10.9%

Free cash flow

Free cash flow is cash from operations less capital expenditures. The company's capital expenditures are comprised of
equipment and facilities infrastructure and information technology (inclusive of costs for the development or purchase of
internal-use software that are capitalized). The company uses free cash flow to evaluate its business performance and
overall liquidity and it is a performance goal in the company's annual and long-term incentive plans. The company
believes free cash flow is a useful measure for investors because it represents the amount of cash generated from
operations after reinvesting in the business and that may be available to return to stockholders and creditors (through
dividends, stock repurchases and debt repayments) or available to fund acquisitions or other investments. The entire free
cash flow amount is not necessarily available for discretionary expenditures, however, because it does not account for
certain mandatory expenditures, such as the repayment of maturing debt and pension contributions.












